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Preliminary Final Report 
 

Name of entity 

Admedus Limited 

 
ABN  Financial year ended (“current period”) 

35 088 221 078    30 June 2016 

 

For announcement to the market $A’000’s 

  
 Revenues from ordinary activities 
 

Up 39.6% to  14,151 

 Loss from ordinary activities after tax  
 

Down 6.2% to  (25,130) 

 Loss for the year attributable to members  Down 4.9% to  (24,014) 

 Dividends Amount per security Franked amount  
per security  

 Final dividend proposed NIL¢ NIL¢ 

 Interim dividend NIL¢ NIL¢ 

 2016 2015 

 Net Tangible Asset Backing 6.4 cents 19.4 cents 

 
Results Commentary 

 
RESULTS 
 
2016 has been a transition year for Admedus (the Company) as it progresses from the launch of CardioCel® into a growth phase. 
Towards the end of the period Admedus also initiated a restructure that will result in tighter financial controls, ongoing sales growth 
and expansion of the near market portfolio expansion. 

The Company achieved revenue of $14.2M in 2016, up 39.6% on the previous year. This included $5.3M in revenue from CardioCel, 
which has experienced consistent quarter on quarter growth. During the period, Admedus achieved first sales of CardioCel in Malaysia 
and the Middle East and North African (MENA) region.  

The Company also had another year of sales growth in its infusion division, with sales of $8.9M for the full year. In May 2016, Admedus 
announced a five-year supply contract with the new Royal Adelaide Hospital (new RAH), which is expected to contribute significantly 
to revenue in FY17. 

The loss for the period was $24M, with a closing cash balance of $8.8M. This loss included approximately $2M in depreciation of 
plant and equipment, amortisation of intangible assets and asset write-downs product. The Company received $3.3M in R&D tax 
rebates during the period and anticipates additional R&D tax rebates in the coming financial year. In July 2016, the Company 
undertook a positive placement of $10 million, as well as a renounceable rights issue that has put it in a strong financial position 
entering FY17. 

Beyond sales, the main activities for Admedus over the past 12 months have been focused on marketing its ADAPT® technology and 
its lead regenerative tissue product CardioCel in the US, Europe and Asian markets. The Company has continued to develop new 
product opportunities and anticipates expanding the CardioCel product range in the 2017 financial year. Admedus has invested in its 
manufacturing facility in Western Australia, as the Company looks to increase margins and reduce costs and expenses in this area.  

  



 

Admedus undertook a restructure in June 2016, which resulted in a reduction in headcount. Some expenses for the period relate to 
this restructure. 

During the period, Admedus invested a further 6.5% into Admedus Immunotherapies, increasing its ownership to 72.8%. Admedus’ 
herpes simplex virus 2 (HSV-2) therapeutic vaccine program entered a Phase II clinical study and the HPV program progressed towards 
clinical programs. 

Looking forward into the Financial Year 2017 

The restructure that occurred in June 2016 focused on accountability and growth. In the last quarter of the 2016 financial year 
through to the current period, Admedus continues to reduce costs, and focus on near-term revenue growth to create a clear path to 
being a sustainable, profitable, global healthcare company. 

 

OPERATIONS 

Sales & Marketing Division 

The Sales and Marketing Division had another growth year with revenue of $14.2M, including CardioCel sales of over $5.3M and 
infusion sales up slightly from the previous year to $8.9M. During the financial year, the team signed a major five-year contract with 
the new Royal Adelaide Hospital for the installation of its arcomed Chroma Infusion pump systems. The supply and service tender 
includes ongoing technical and clinical support, and dedicated consumable products for use with the infusion systems. The contract 
is anticipated to have an impact on revenue in 2017. 

During the period, the Company spent funds launching and promoting CardioCel globally, including attending and presenting at a 
number of important symposium and major international conferences to build brand awareness of Admedus, ADAPT and CardioCel.  
CardioCel now has approval for use in Europe, the US, Canada, Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore and some countries in the MENA 
region.  In particular, Admedus received first approvals and sales of CardioCel in Malaysia and the MENA region. The focus moving 
forward will be to leverage the branding and marketing efforts undertaken by the Company over the past 2 years to continue to grow 
sales globally. 

During the 2016 financial year, Admedus announced a partnership with Canadian company CORONEO Inc to sell its Aortic 
Annuloplasty Ring and a range of specialised surgical instruments for heart valve surgery in Germany, the UK, Australia and New 
Zealand. The partnership uses Admedus’ existing sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure and allows the Company to further 
build relationships with key surgeons and hospitals both in Europe, Australia and New Zealand. The Coroneo Aortic Annuloplasty Ring 
complements the products in the CardioCel product franchise. 

As a result of the re-structure the sales and marketing team will focus on ensuring growth with measurable performance. The sales 
and marketing team are aiming to launch new products in the 2017 financial year, as the Admedus cardiovascular product portfolio 
expands. Sales teams are now structured around performance and regional growth to maximise the returns from the CardioCel 
product range and return on investment. 

Cardiovascular portfolio 

The Admedus Regenerative tissue division continues to build on the initial CardioCel product, with plans to expand its range in 2017 
for both cardiac applications and vascular repairs. After reviewing a number of programs, the focus will be on ensuring that the 
Company prioritises near-market products that complement the existing portfolio and can add to the current sales and marketing 
strategy. This strategy will ensure greater accountability is given to capital spent on R&D.  

During the period, Admedus achieved a label expansion for CardioCel in Europe that allows it to be used for the repair of intracardiac 
defects including septal defects, and valve and annulus repair. This has been an important step in the expansion of CardioCel use, as 
well as potentially enabling greater market penetration. It is estimated that each year there are 256,000 valve procedures in the US, 
with similar numbers predicted in Europe, and the use of CardioCel in valve repairs and reconstructions adds to the use in congenital 
heart defect surgery. 

Admedus published and presented a number of key data during the year, as it continues to promote the benefits of CardioCel in 
cardiovascular surgery.  At the prestigious 2015 European Association for Cardiothoracic Surgery (EACTS) meeting, Professor Bart 
Meuris demonstrated how CardioCel can be used in the complete reconstruction of aortic heart valves. The results showed improved 
haemodynamics and post-implant remodelling in a sheep model, further highlighting the strong characteristics of the CardioCel 
product range and ADAPT tissue over competitors.  

Progressing into the 2017 financial year, Admedus will focus on growing its tissue franchise by leveraging off strong data and existing 
product awareness. The Company will also focus on presenting and publishing data that clearly illustrates the superiority of CardioCel, 
as well as targeting greater market penetration in key markets globally. 

  



 

Admedus Manufacturing Division  

In line with its recent review, Admedus is implementing cost-saving measures in its global manufacturing and supply chain with the 
aim of increasing gross profit margins in manufacturing by 50% in the coming year. The Company has identified cost savings in 
packing, shipping and logistics and will be targeting improved gross margins, better production yields and productivity and overall 
greater return from its manufacturing operations.  

The manufacturing team will also be working closely with the product development and marketing teams, as the Company expands 
its cardiovascular product range in the 2017 financial year. 

In the 2016 financial year the Company invested capital in manufacturing infrastructure and improvements in the manufacturing 
facility. Moving forward, Admedus will be looking to leverage this investment for continued improvement in manufacturing, while 
also increasing production to supply growing product sales. 

Admedus Immunotherapies Division 

Admedus has continued to work with Professor Ian Frazer and his team to progress the HSV-2 therapeutic vaccine from a positive 
Phase I clinical study into a Phase II clinical study. The Phase II study is designed to monitor safety and the therapeutic effect of the 
vaccine by evaluating changes in T-cell counts, and the ability to reduce HSV-2 viral shedding and viral load. In March 2016, the 
Company released blinded interim results from its Phase II HSV-2 study, which showed no safety issues and a marked decrease in 
viral lesions (outbreaks) in study participants. Further Phase II HSV-2 trial results are expected to be announced in the fourth quarter 
of 2016. 

The Admedus Immunotherapies division continues to work on an HPV therapeutic vaccine, which has demonstrated very positive 
results in preclinical studies, and as a result is progressing in its preparation for Phase Ib clinical studies. 

Admedus will continue to look at opportunities for the Admedus Immunotherapies division, as well as ways to leverage the 
technology and intellectual property to generate a return on investment to benefit shareholders. 

 
Annual General Meeting 

The Annual General Meeting will be held on the 10th of November 2016. 

 
Audit 

The financial statements on which this report is based have been audited. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Your Directors present their report on Admedus Limited (“the Company”) and the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the 
Group) for the year ended 30 June 2016. 
 
DIRECTORS 

The Directors of the Company in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as follows. 
Directors were in office for the entire period unless otherwise stated.  

 Wayne Paterson 

 John Seaberg  

 Michael Bennett  

 Mathew Ratty (appointed 26/5/2016) 

 Lee Rodne (resigned 30/6/2016) 

 Graeme Rowley (resigned 9/2/2016) 

 Chrisopher Catlow (resigned 8/2/2016) 

 Peter Turvey (resigned 8/2/2016) 
 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

During the year, the principal activities of the Group consisted of: 

 Growth of the sales and distribution activities across the infusion medical device and the ADAPT tissue portfolio with a 
particular focus in the area of cardiovascular Neonatal repair. 

 Continued development of the Company’s tissue product portfolio, with a focus on products that are near market and 
building a data base of near and long term benefits of ADAPT tissue across a range of surgical applications. 

 The Group manufacturing facility continues to scale up production to meet growing demand for CardioCel as well as preparing 
to manufacture anticipated new products whilst reducing costs and increasing yields.  

 Ongoing work with Professor Ian Frazer in the area of immunotherapies targeting infectious diseases and oncology. 
 
OPERATING RESULT 

The operating result for the year:  
 CONSOLIDATED 
 2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

Loss before Income Tax (25,130,410) (23,871,337) 

Income Tax (Expense)/Benefit - (2,928,633) 

Loss for the Year (25,130,410) (26,799,970) 

 
DIVIDENDS  

No dividend was paid during the year and the Board has not recommended the payment of a dividend. 
 
SHARE CAPITAL 

196,254,798 Ordinary Shares, 14,686,925 Unlisted Options and 5,630,000 Unlisted Warrants were on issue as at 30 June 2016.  
 
OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW  

Group Overview 

Admedus Limited is a global healthcare company with strong revenues through its existing medical device sales and distribution 
business as well as continued development of its research & development programs.  

Over the past year the Company continued to build its sales and marketing across both its infusion business and its regenerative 
tissue franchise, while transitioning into a cost effective business with a target of becoming a sustainable business with growing 
profits and returns for shareholders. 

As part of extracting value from its technologies, Admedus is working with Professor Ian Frazer in the area of immunotherapies. The 
immunotherapy programs target diseases across infectious diseases and oncology such as Herpes Simplex 2 (HSV-2) and Human 
Papillomavirus (HPV). The lead program has progressed into Phase II clinical studies targeting HSV-2, with its HPV program also 
progressing into clinical studies in people infected with the virus. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

Review of Operations 

The loss for the consolidated entity after providing for income tax amounted to $25,130,410, down 6.3%, and an operating cash 
outflow of $21.9M, up 2.1% from the previous year (2015: $21.5M). Key factors contributing to the current year’s performance are 
discussed below. 

The income for the Company during the period was $14.2M, up 39.6% from the previous year with revenue from the regenerative 
tissue franchise (CardioCel) up 94% to $5.3M and the infusion business revenue rose 18% to $8.9M. 

During the period the Company increased expenditure in sales and marketing across the North American and European markets as 
it continues to market CardioCel as the Company moves from a product launch phase into a global growth phase for sales. The 
Company also had first sales in Malaysia and the MENA region during the period as it continues to expand into global and emerging 
markets. 

Over the 2016 financial year the Company continued to invest in its manufacturing facility to ensure it is able to expand production, 
and reduce the overall cost of manufacturing, and increase production yield and margins. This should have a material benefit in the 
2017 financial year. 

Property, plant and equipment has decreased to $2.7M due to depreciation, which net off the increase from additions.  The 
intangibles have decreased from $8.8M to $7.5M due to amortisation of intellectual property held within Admedus Immunotherapies 
and Regenerative Medicine divisions. 

At the close of the 2016 financial year Admedus held 72.8% of Admedus Immunotherapies having increased its holding by 6.5% during 
the period. 

Financial Position 

Admedus closed the period with $8.8M in cash, down from the $24M close at the end of the previous year; however the Company 
completed a placement in July 2016 and is undergoing a Rights Issue to raise a total of $18.3M minus fees. 

Inventory was unchanged during the period although this is forecast to rise in the first two quarters of the 2017 financial year as 
the Company increased stock in its infusion division as a result of its five year contract with the Royal Adelaide hospital. 

Material Business Risks 

The Group has identified the below specific risks which could impact upon its future prospects. 

Commercial risk 

As with all businesses there is always a commercial risk that not all customers will use your product, or that competing products are 
used in preference to the Company’s product and therefore 100% market penetration is rare. With CardioCel now on the market in 
the US, Europe, Canada, Hong Kong, Malaysia, New Zealand, the Middle East and Singapore, the Company continues to progress its 
global coverage for the product and build market penetration and product awareness. Late in the period (June, 2016) the Company 
initiated a review process that includes activities to improve the Company’s marketing messaging and bring new CardioCel products 
to market with a focus to build market penetration and market expansion, resulting in a reduced commercial risk. 

Admedus has numerous ongoing R&D and product development programs in both its bio-scaffold and therapeutic immunotherapies 
areas to further develop the two key platform technologies within the Company. The development of additional bio-scaffold products 
highlights the quality of the platform technology, as well as reducing the commercial risk by having an increased number of products 
on the market.  
 
The Company currently maintains a range of patents across the various technologies and continues to monitor these patents, as well 
as explore new patents based on the R&D currently being undertaken by the Company. 

Clinical trial risk 

The development of innovative products in the biomedical and healthcare industries will always have an element of risk associated 
with it.  Admedus is working with Professor Ian Frazer to develop therapeutic vaccines with the lead program in a clinical study and 
the second program scheduled to enter clinical studies in the coming financial year. In addition, Admedus continues to develop 
products from its ADAPT platform technology, albeit de-risked, as a result of the lead product CardioCel being on market and actively 
used in patients. As a result of these ongoing activities there is an inherent risk associated with clinical studies and R&D and it is 
subject to many factors beyond the Company’s control. The Company continuously monitors the progress of all of these studies and 
aims to manage these risks. 

Competition 

Admedus actively monitors its markets and the activities of potential competing products. As a Company, we feel it is highly likely 
that other companies and organisations may be trying to develop competing products. Admedus believes that its platform 
technologies and products have clear advantages over other technologies and products and continues to undertake R&D to further 
illustrate and explore these advantages and benefits. 

Regardless of the diligent activities of the Admedus team, there is no assurance that the Group’s competitors will not succeed in 
developing technologies that compete with the Admedus technologies. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

Despite the existence of a general statutory framework in Australia and international conventions which are intended to protect 
against certain anti-competitive practices, there can be no assurance that the applicable laws will be enforced sufficiently to protect 
the Group from anti-competitive practices by its competitors or that major competitors will not use their strategic positions to gain 
a competitive advantage in some future period, whether by means of price reductions or by other means.  

Financial performance 

To date Admedus has not declared a dividend. The amount, timing and payment of any dividend will depend on a range of factors, 
including future capital and R&D activities and associated capital requirements and the financial position generally of the Group at 
the time.  There will also be factors that affect the ability of the Group to pay dividends and the timing of those dividends that will 
be outside the control of the Group and its Directors.  The Directors are, therefore, unable to give any assurance regarding the 
payment of dividends in the future. 

Intellectual property 

The Group’s success will depend, in part, on its ability to obtain adequate and valid patent protection, maintain trade secret 
protection and operate without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties or having third parties circumvent the Group’s rights.  
Admedus prepares files and maintains patents in countries relevant to the use and manufacturing of products using our technologies. 

While the Group believes it has taken appropriate steps to protect its proprietary technology, the law may not adequately protect it 
in all places the Group does business or enable the Group’s rights to be enforced with sufficient adequacy.  

The enforceability of a patent is dependent on a number of factors which may vary between jurisdictions, including the validity of 
the patent and the scope of protection it provides.  The validity of a patent depends upon factors such as the novelty of the invention, 
the requirement in many jurisdictions that the invention not be obvious in light of the prior art (including any prior use or 
documentary disclosure of the invention), the utility of the invention and the extent to which the patent specification clearly discloses 
the best method of working or carrying out the invention.  The legal interpretation of these requirements often varies between 
jurisdictions.  The scope of rights provided by a patent can also differ between jurisdictions.  There can be no assurance even if the 
Group succeeded or succeeds in obtaining the grant of patents, that others will not seek to imitate the Group’s products, and in doing 
so, attempt to design their products in such a way as to circumvent the Group patent rights.  Additionally, the ability of the legal 
process to provide efficient and effective procedures for dealing with actual or suspected infringements can vary considerably 
between jurisdictions.  

Regarding the Group’s patent applications, no guarantee can be given that such protection will be obtained by the Group.  If such 
patents are not granted, it may be possible for a third party to imitate and use the Group’s intellectual property without its 
authorisation or to develop and use similar technology independently.  The Group will pursue vigorously both its existing and all 
future patent applications for Australian and foreign patent applications.  No guarantee can be given nor does the grant of a patent 
guarantee that the patent concerned is valid, or that the patented technology does not infringe the rights of others. 

The Group may wish to expand into additional foreign countries in the future and the laws of many foreign countries treat the 
protection of proprietary rights differently from the laws in Australia.  Those laws may not protect the Group’s proprietary rights to 
the same extent as do laws in Australia.  

Staff 

Admedus’ success is dependent on the skills and abilities of its employees. As a result, the Company maintains a positive work 
environment and incentives for staff to perform well. Competition for skilled employees can be intense and there can be no assurance 
that the Group will be able to retain its key managerial, R&D, and technical employees or that it will be able to attract and retain 
additional highly qualified personnel in the future.  The inability to attract and retain the necessary personnel could have a material 
and adverse effect upon the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition.   
 

Likely Developments 

Outlook 

Over the past 12 months the Company has continued to build its market brands globally, and towards the end of the period has 
undertaken a strategic review to refine the business towards being a profitable, sustainable business. 

Over the next 12 months the Company is looking forward to: 

 Continuing to grow CardioCel sales through market penetration, leveraging the strong benefit the product gives surgeons 
and patients alike in both the near and longer term. 

 Building up the CardioCel and cardiovascular product range with products on market for specific market segments and 
clear applications, to increase market penetration and Company sales. 

 Increasing overall production margins and yields in the manufacturing division while continuing to increase production, 
resulting in better returns for the Company as well as strong cost controls. 

 Continuing to grow the infusion business, including working with Royal Adelaide Hospital as well as pursing additional 
infusion sales contracts. 

 Continuing to develop Admedus immunotherapies’ technology to ensure that it maximises the potential and therefore 
return on this business. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

Over the past 12 months, Admedus has focused on establishing strong brand awareness of CardioCel, which will enable the 
Company to build a product franchise in cardiovascular tissue surgical repairs and reconstructions. The board and management are 
committed to ensuring financial accountability while building sales, resulting in a profitable global healthcare business. 

Business Strategies 

The Group’s business strategies to achieve the above goals include:  

- Ensuring a financially strong and stable business. 

- Clearly define the CardioCel message and its advantages for patient and surgeon alike. 

- Grow CardioCel market penetration and sales through a refined product range targeting separate segments of the 
cardiovascular market. 

- Tighter cost expenditure relative to sales growth. 

- Continued product expansion with focus on products with near term revenue potential to contribute to sale growth. 

- Ongoing improvements across its manufacturing division to improve product margins and production yields providing 
higher production margins and reduced operating costs. 

- Continuing to build the infusion business based on growing revenue and pursuing more longer-term contracts. 

- Continued development in the area of immunotherapies to ensure commercial application and returns on the 
investment. 

Admedus has recently undertaken a complete business review and now has a defined path to profitability through cost expenditure 
controls, coordinated sales and marketing and an expanded cardiovascular product portfolio, all resulting in a reduced operating cost 
base and growing revenues. This review, combined with the recent capital raising places the Company in a strong financial position 
to build into a sustainable, profitable business. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred during the financial 
year not otherwise disclosed in this report and the Financial Statements. 

During the financial period, Admedus Investments Pty Ltd, a subsidiary of Admedus Ltd, acquired additional shares in Admedus 
Vaccines Pty Ltd to increase its interest to 72.8%.  Admedus Vaccines Pty Ltd is a medical R&D business and operates the 
Immunotherapies Division of the consolidated entity. 

EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 

On 13 July 2016, the Group announced cancellation of 5,298,584 unlisted options that expired on 10 July 2016.  

On 15 July 2016, the Group announced the resignation of BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and appointed of HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) 
as new auditors. HLB will continue to hold office until the next AGM at which time the shareholders will formally appoint them as the 
Company’s auditors. 

On 2 August 2016, the Group announced a Prospectus Entitlement Offer. Under the offer shareholder have the rights to purchase 1 
share for every 9 shares held at $0.33 per share. 

On 5 August 2016, the Group announced the issue of 30,303,031 shares each at an issue price of $0.33 via a private placement. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS  

The Company is subject to environmental regulation and other licences in connection with its research, development and 
manufacturing. The Company complies with all relevant Federal, State and Local environmental regulations. The Board is not aware 
of any breach of applicable environmental regulations by the Company. 

GREENHOUSE GAS AND ENERGY DATA REPORTING REQUIREMENTS  

The Group have reviewed the reporting requirements of both the Energy Efficiency Opportunities Act 2006 and the National 
Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 and the Group is not currently subject to any reporting obligations. 
 

.   
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS  

Director Experience Special 
Responsibilities 

Particulars of Director’s Interest in Shares 
and Options of the Company 

   Ordinary Shares Options / 
Warrants 

W. Paterson Non-Executive Director appointed 10 October 
2014. 
  
Qualification: 
Mr Paterson has spent the last 25 years involved 
as an executive in the Global biotechnology 
industry. Previously he was a senior executive 
with Merck Serono and Roche Pharmaceuticals. 
  
Other current directorships  
Cepheid (NASDAQ CPHD) 
  
Former directorships in last 3 years   
None 

Chairman 
 
Interim CEO 
 
Member of audit and 
risk management 
committee 
 
Chair of remuneration 
committee 

50,000 100,000 

M. Bennett Executive Director appointed as Managing 
Director since 16 July 2003. Resigned as 
Managing Director and appointed Executive 
Director since 16 June 2011. 
 
Qualification: 
Mr Bennett has over 40 years sales and 
marketing experience working for US and 
European medical device companies and has 
been involved in the introduction of many new 
medical and surgical device technologies to the 
Australian market. He previously owned and 
operated his own private surgical supply 
company and has exclusively represented some 
major overseas medical device manufacturing 
companies. 
 
Other current directorships 
None 
 
Former directorships in last 3 years  
None 

Nil 1,257,400 380,000 

J. Seaberg Non-Executive Director appointed 10 October 
2014.  
 
Qualification: 
Mr Seaberg has significant experience in 
cardiovascular products and markets. He was 
Founder, Chairman and CEO of NeoChord Inc, a 
mitral valve repair technology from its inception 
in 2007 to 2014. Previously he was a senior 
executive with Guidant Corp (acquired by 
Boston Scientific) where he oversaw sales and 
marketing activities in its cardiac rhythm 
management and cardiac surgery divisions. He 
also served as Chairman of the Board of a bovine 
tissue company, Synovis Inc until its sale to 
Baxter International in 2012. 
 
Other current directorships 
None 
 
Former directorships in last 3 years  
None 

Chair of audit and risk 
management 
committee 
 
Member of 
remuneration 
committee 

19,036 100,000 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS  

Director Experience Special 
Responsibilities 

Particulars of Director’s Interest in Shares 
and Options of the Company 

   Ordinary Shares Options / 
Warrants 

M. Ratty Non-Executive Director appointed 26 May 2016.  
 
Qualification: 
Mr Ratty is the co-founder of MC Management 
Group Pty Ltd, a venture capital firm investing in 
the debt and equity space both domestically and 
internationally. Mathew also holds the role of 
Head of Investment and is responsible for 
negotiating deal structures and asset pricing for 
companies in the healthcare, financials and 
technology equities space. From 2009-2013, 
Mathew worked as an analyst at Gladstone 
Bridge Pty Ltd, a property development and 
equity company. Based on his successful role, 
Mathew joined Gladstone as a Director, 
overseeing the asset allocation of the company. 
Mathew holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree 
(Property and Finance) with first class honours in 
Finance from Curtin University of Technology. 
 
Other current directorships 
None 
 
Former directorships in last 3 years  
None 

Member of audit and 
risk management 
committee 
 
Member of 
remuneration 
committee 

10,088,587 Options – Nil 
190,000 Warrants 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

COMPANY SECRETARY 

Stephen Mann has over ten years of experience in a variety of business finance, accounting, risk and administration roles. He is 
experienced in the areas of accounting, corporate governance, operational and financial management. He holds a Bachelor of 
Business Degree (Acc & Bus Law) and is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants. 
 

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 

The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and of each Board committee held during the year ended 30 June 
2016, and the numbers of meetings attended by each Director were:  
 

Directors Full Meetings of Directors Meetings of Audit Committee Meetings of Remuneration 
Committee 

 A B A B A B 
Wayne Paterson 7 7 6 6 2 2 
John Seaberg 7 7 5 5 2 2 
Michael Bennett 7 7 * * * * 
Mathew Ratty 1 1 2 2 1 1 
Lee Rodne 4 7 * * * * 
Chris Catlow 2 2 2 2 2 2 
Graeme Rowley 2 2 1 1 2 2 
Peter Turvey 2 2 2 2 2 2 

 

A = Number of meetings attended 
B = Number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the committee during the year 
* = Not a member of the relevant committee 

The Board meets regularly on an informal basis in addition to the above meetings. 

Details of the membership of the committees of the Board are presented in the Corporate Governance Statement. 

 
REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) 

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 

A Principles Used To Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration 

B Remuneration Governance 

C Details of Remuneration 

D Service Agreements 

E Share-Based Compensation 

F Additional information 

G Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel 

H Loans to key management personnel 
 

The information provided in this Remuneration Report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
The remuneration arrangements detailed in this report are for Non-Executive and Executive Directors as follows: 
 

 Wayne Paterson   Chairman 

 Michael Bennett  Executive Director 

 John Seaberg  Non-Executive Director 

 Mathew Ratty  Non-Executive Director 
 
In addition, Julian Chick’s (Chief Operating Officer), and Stephen Mann’s (Chief Financial Officer/Company Secretary) remuneration 
arrangements have been disclosed as they are considered by the Directors to be key management personnel. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

REMUNERATION REPORT (continued) 

A Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration 

The objective of the Company’s remuneration framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and appropriate for the 
results delivered and set to attract the most qualified and experienced candidates. 
 
Remuneration levels are competitively set to attract the most qualified and experienced directors and senior executive officers, in 
the context of prevailing market conditions. 
 
The Company embodies the following principles in its remuneration framework: 

 the Board seeks independent advice on remuneration policies and practices including recommendations on remuneration 
packages and other terms of employment for Directors; and 

 in determining remuneration, advice is sought from external consultants on current market practices for similar roles, the level 
of responsibility, performance and potential of the Director and performance of the Group. 

 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of Non-Executive and Executive remuneration is separate and 
distinct. Remuneration Committee responsibilities are carried out by Wayne Paterson, John Seaberg and Mathew Ratty. 
 
Non-Executive Directors  

Fees and payments to the Non-Executive Directors reflect the demands which are made on and the responsibilities of the Directors. 
The Non-Executive Director’s fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board. 
The Non-Executive Chairman’s fees are determined based on competitive roles in the external market. The Chairman is not present 
at any discussions relating to the determination of his own remuneration.  
 
The Non-Executive Directors’ fees and payments were reviewed by the remuneration committee to ensure they were appropriate 
and in line with the market. The Chairman currently receives a fixed fee for his services as a Director.   
 
The Company’s Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration package contains the following key elements: 

 primary benefits – quarterly director’s fees. 

 equity – share options under the Admedus Share Option Incentive Plan (as approved by shareholders at the 2012 Annual 
General Meeting). 

 
The Non-Executive Directors’ fees are determined within an aggregate directors’ fee pool limit, which is periodically recommended 
for approval by shareholders. The maximum currently stands at $700,000 per annum and was approved by shareholders at the 2014 
Annual General Meeting. 
 
No retirement benefits are provided other than compulsory superannuation.  
 
 

Executive Directors 

The Company’s Executive Directors’ remuneration packages contain the following key elements: 

 primary benefits – fees via base service agreements.  

 equity – share options under the Admedus Share Option Incentive Plan (as approved by shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting on 13 November 2015). 

 

The combination of these components comprises the Executive Directors’ total remuneration. 
 

Service agreements are in place for Executive Directors which provide for a fixed base fee per annum. External remuneration 
information provides benchmark information to ensure the base pay is set to reflect the market for a comparable role. Base fees are 
reviewed annually to ensure the level is competitive with the market. There is no guaranteed base fee increases included in any 
Executive Director contracts. A parking bay is also provided as an additional benefit to Executive Directors. 
 

There are no performance conditions on options issued to directors and employees. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

REMUNERATION REPORT (continued) 

Executive remuneration mix 
The following chart sets out the executives’ target remuneration mix: 

 

 
 
 
CONSOLIDATED ENTITY PERFORMANCE AND LINK TO REMUNERATION 

Remuneration for certain individuals is directly linked to performance of the consolidated entity. A portion of bonus and incentive 
payments are dependent on defined key performance indicators being met. The remaining portion of the bonus and incentive 
payments are at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee. Refer to section F of the Remuneration Report for details of the last 
five years earnings and total shareholders return. 

The Remuneration Committee is of the opinion that the continued improved results can be attributed in part to the adoption of 
performance based compensation and is satisfied that this improvement will continue to increase shareholder wealth if maintained 
over the coming years. 
 

USE OF REMUNERATION CONSULTANTS 

The Company’s objective is to ensure that remuneration policies are fair and competitive and aligned with the long-term interests of 
the Company.  In doing this, during the year the Remuneration Committee sought advice from Aon Hewitt as an independent 
remuneration consultant to benchmark executive and non-executive director wages and fees at a cost of $8,600 (excluding GST).  

There were no remuneration recommendations other than benchmarking data provided by AON Hewitt. 

The Remuneration Committee is satisfied that the benchmarking analysis provided by AON Hewitt is free from undue influence. 
Aon Hewitt also confirmed to the Remuneration Committee that the services provided adheres to the Company’s protocol relating 
to KMP remuneration and had not been subjected to undue influence from the Company’s KMP. 

VOTING AND COMMENTS MADE AT THE COMPANY’S 2015 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

The Company received more than 90% of “yes” votes on its remuneration report for the 2015 financial year. The Company did not 
receive any specific feedback at the AGM or throughout the year on its remuneration practices.  

 
B Remuneration Governance 

The Remuneration Committee is a committee of the Board. It is primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board 
on: 

 the over-arching executive remuneration framework; 

 the operation of the incentive plans which apply to executive directors and senior executives, including key performance 
indicators and performance hurdles; 

 the remuneration levels of executives; and 

 Non-Executive Director fees. 

The Corporate Governance Statement provides further information on this committee. 

88%

96%

91%

12%

4%

9%

80% 85% 90% 95% 100%

Other senior executives

Executive director

Managing director

Total remuneration mix

Base pay and benefits STI LTI
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

REMUNERATION REPORT (continued) 

C Details of Remuneration 

Details of the remuneration of the Directors of the Group is set out below: 
 

 

Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits 
 

Share based 
benefits 

Total 
 

Percentage 
remuneration 
consisting of 

shares/options for 
the year 

Performance 
related 

2016 

Directors 
fees 

$ 

Consulting 
fees 

$ 
Salary 

$ 
Bonus 

$ 

Super- 
annuation 

$ 

Termination 
benefits 

$ 

Equity 
shares/options 

$ $ 

 
 

% 

 
 

% 

Non-Executive Director           

W. Paterson 101,850 - - - - - 9,552 111,402 - - 

J. Seaberg 90,017 - - - - - 9,552 99,569 - - 

M. Ratty 2 10,275 - - - - - - 10,275 - - 

C. Catlow 3 63,886 - - - 6,041 - - 69,927 - - 

G. Rowley 3 44,827 - - - 4,248 - - 49,075 - - 

P. Turvey 3 44,060 - - - 4,171 - - 48,231 - - 
Executive Directors           
L. Rodne 3 & 4 - - 400,000 100,000 50,000 586,604 - 1,136,604 - 9% 
M. Bennett 4 - 243,000 - 10,890 24,300 - - 278,190 - 4% 

Total directors compensation (Group) 354,915 243,000 400,000 110,890 88,760 586,604 19,104 1,803,273     

Key Management Personnel           

S. Mann 4 - - 204,546 29,531 23,408 - - 257,485 - 11% 

J. Chick 4 - - 281,819 46,500 32,832 - - 361,151 - 13% 

Total key management personnel 
compensation (Group) 

- - 486,365 76,031 56,240 
- 

- 618,636     

TOTAL 354,915 243,000 886,365 186,921 145,000 586,604 19,104 2,421,909     
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)  

C Details of Remuneration (continued) 

 

 

Short-term benefits Post-
employment 

benefits 
 

Share based 
benefits 

Total 
 

Percentage 
remuneration 
consisting of 

shares/options for 
the year 

Performance 
related 

2015 

Directors 
fees 

$ 
Consulting fees 

$ 
Salary 

$ 
Bonus 

$ 

Super- 
annuation 

$ 

Equity 
shares/options 

$ $ 

 
 

% 

 
 

% 

Non-Executive Director          

C. Catlow 100,000 - - - 10,000 - 110,000 - - 

G. Rowley 70,000 - - - 7,000 - 77,000 - - 

P. Turvey  70,000 - - - 7,000 - 77,000 - - 

J. Seaberg5 57,750 - - - - - 57,750 - - 

W. Paterson5 57,750 - - - - - 57,750 - - 
Executive Directors          
L. Rodne - - 400,209 100,0003 50,021 - 550,230 - 20 
M. Bennett - 240,000 - - 24,000 - 264,000 - - 

Total directors compensation (Group) 355,500 240,000 400,209 100,000 98,021 - 1,193,730   

Key Management Personnel          
S. Mann  - - 205,382 - 20,538 40 225,960 - - 

J. Chick  - - 286,518 36,0004 32,252 40 354,810 - 15 

Total key management personnel 
compensation (Group) - - 491,900 36,000 52,790 80 580,770  

 

TOTAL 355,500 240,000 892,109 136,000 150,811 80 1,774,500   
 

 
(1) There are no termination or retirement benefits for Non-Executive Directors (other than statutory superannuation). 
(2) M. Ratty was appointed as Non-Executive Directors on 26 May 2016. 
(3) C. Catlow resigned as Chairman and Non-Executive Director on 8 February 2016, G. Rowley resigned as Non-Executive Director on 9 February 2016, P. Turvey resigned as Non-Executive Director on 8 February 2016 and L. Rodne resigned as CEO and MD on 30 

June 2016. 
(4) L. Rodne, M. Bennett, S. Mann and J. Chick achieved all performance milestones to receive bonus. No bonuses were forfeited or carried forward. 
(5) J. Seaberg and W. Paterson were appointed as Non-Executive Directors on 10 October 2014. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)  

D Service Agreements 

On appointment, the Non-Executive Directors enter into a service agreement with the Company in the form of a letter of 
appointment. The letter outlines the Board’s policies and terms, including remuneration relevant to the office of director.  
 
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Managing Director and Executive Director are formalised in service 
agreements. The major provisions relating to remuneration are set out below. 
 
Wayne, Paterson, Interim CEO 

 Term of agreement – commences on 20 May 2016 and shall continue until terminated; 

 Base salary of USD$400,000 for the year ended 30 June 2016, to be reviewed annually;  

 Motor vehicle allowance of $1,000 per month is payable under the agreement; and 

 Contract may be terminated early by either party with two weeks’ notice, subject to termination payments as outlined below. 
 

Michael Bennett, Executive Director 

 Term of agreement – 3 years from 2 July 2014; 

 Base fee of $246,000 for the year ended 30 June 2016, to be reviewed annually; 

 Superannuation of 10% is payable under the agreement; and 

 No performance based benefits payable under the agreement.  

 Contract may be terminated early by either party with six months’ notice, subject to termination payments as outlined below. 
 
Lee Rodne, Former Managing Director 

 Term of agreement – resigned 30 June 2016; 

 Base salary of $400,000 for the year ended 30 June 2015; 

 Superannuation of 10% is payable under the agreement; and 

 The board may, at its discretion, elect to provide annual bonus up to an amount equal to 100% of the base salary. 

 Contract may be terminated early by either party with twelve months’ notice, subject to termination payments as outlined 
below. 
 

Termination benefits 

Post-employment benefits include accrued long service leave, which is due and payable after every seven consecutive years of 
service. The service agreements provide Executive Directors (excluding interim roles) with three months of base fee in the event of 
redundancy. No other termination benefits are payable, unless the Company does not provide the required six month notice period 
of termination, then three months of base fee is payable. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

REMUNERATION REPORT (continued) 

E Share-based Compensation 
 
Options 

On 21 July 2015 the Company issued 13,500,000 options to employees under the ESOP. 

On 26 November 2015 the Company completed a share and option consolidation on a 10 for 1 basis. 

On 10 December 2015 employees received 475,000 options as a sign-on bonus under the ESOP. 

On 10 December 2015 directors received 200,000 options under the ESOP, approved by shareholders at 2015 AGM. 

On 24 June 2016 employees received 250,000 options as a sign-on bonus under the ESOP. 

During the period 200,000 of the 2,275,000 ESOP options (post consolidation) were issued to key management personnel (2015: 
2,000,000).  

Set out below are summaries of options granted by Admedus Limited to directors and key management personnel: 

Grant date 
 
 

Expiry date 
 
 

Exercise 
price 

 
$ 

Balance at start 
of the year 

Number 

Granted during 
the year 
Number 

 
Cancelled 
Number 

Exercised 
during the year 

Number 

Balance at end 
of the year 

Number 

Value at 
grant date 

$ 

   
12/08/2011 10/07/2016 0.60 2,500,000 - (2,250,000) - 250,000 101,500 
22/08/2011 10/07/2016 0.60 48,800,000 - (47,730,000) (566,666) 503,334 419,680 
18/05/2012 18/05/2017 0.60 2,133,334 - (1,953,334)  180,000 55,986 
18/06/2013 18/06/2018 0.95 5,000,000 - (4,500,000) - 500,000 57,295 
16/12/2013 16/12/2018 2.70 7,000,000 - (6,870,000) - 130,000 125,985 
30/06/2015 30/06/2020 1.17        2,000,000   (1,800,000) - 200,000 80 
10/12/2015 10/12/2020 1.39  200,000   200,000 103,056 
23/12/2015 23/12/2020 0.79   190,000(1)     190,000 - 

Total   67,433,334 390,000 (65,103,334)(2) (566,666) 2,153,334 863,582 

 
(1) M. Ratty received warrants via participation in Placement prior to becoming a Non-Executive Director. 
(2) This balance consists of the option consolidation on a 10 for 1 basis and options held by directors who resigned during the year. 

 
 

Option holdings 
The number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Admedus Limited, 
including their personally related parties, are set out below: 
 

Option holder 
 

Balance at 
the start of 

the year 
Granted as 

compensation 

Options 
beneficially 

held 

 

Cancelled Purchased 
Expired/ 
Exercised 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year Unvested 

Vested and 
exercisable 

2016        
Directors of Admedus Limited       
W. Paterson - 100,000 - - - - 100,000 100,000 - 
J. Seaberg - 100,000 - - - - 100,000 100,000 - 
M. Bennett 3,800,000 - - (3,420,000)(1) - - 380,000 43,333 336,667 
M. Ratty - - - 190,000(2) - - 190,000 - 190,000 
L. Rodne 23,000,000 - - (23,000,000)(3) - - - - - 
C. Catlow 16,900,000 - - (16,900,000)(3) - - - - - 
G. Rowley 8,500,000 - - (8,500,000)(3) - - - - - 
P. Turvey 833,334 - - (833,334)(3) - - - - - 
          
Other key management personnel of the group       
S. Mann 4,400,000 - - (3,847,500)(1) - (125,000) 427,500 66,666 360,834 
J. Chick 10,000,000 - - (8,602,500)(1) - (441,666) 955,834 66,666 889,168 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

REMUNERATION REPORT (continued) 

E Share-based Compensation (continued) 

 
Option holder 

 
Balance at 
the start of 

the year 
Granted as 

compensation 

Options 
beneficially 

held 

 

Cancelled Purchased 
Expired/ 
Exercised 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year Unvested 

Vested and 
exercisable 

2015        
Directors of Admedus Limited       
C. Catlow 16,900,000 - - - - - 16,900,000 600,000 16,300,000 
L. Rodne 23,000,000 - - - - - 23,000,000 2,533,334 20,466,666 
G Rowley 8,500,000 - - - - - 8,500,000 333,334 8,166,666 
M. Bennett 3,800,000 - - - - - 3,800,000 866,667 2,933,333 
P. Turvey 1,166,667 - - - - (333,333) 833,334 333,334 500,000 
J.Seaberg - - - - - - - - - 
W. Paterson - - - - - - - - - 
          
Other key management personnel of the group       
S. Mann 3,400,000 1,000,000 - - - - 4,400,000 1,333,334 3,066,666 
J. Chick 9,000,000 1,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 2,333,334 7,666,666 

 
(1) The balance relates to the option consolidation on a 10 for 1 basis  
(2) M. Ratty received warrants via participation in Placement prior to becoming a Non-Executive Director. 
(3) The balance relates to options held by directors who resigned during the year. 

 

Fair Value of Options Granted 

The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted during the year ended 30 June 2016 was 51.5 cents per option for Tranche 
A. The fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the 
exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the 
underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option. 
 
The model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2016 included: 
 

 Tranche A 
(a) options issued under the ESOP are granted for no consideration and vest based on holders still being Directors or key 

management personnel of Admedus Limited over a three year period. Vested options are exercisable for a period up to 
expiry date. 

(b) exercise price: $1.39 
(c) grant date: 10 December 2015 
(d) expiry date: 10 December 2020 
(e) share price at grant date: $0.83 
(f) expected price volatility of the Company's shares: 90% 
(g) risk-free interest rate: 2.36% 

 
The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for any expected 
changes to future volatility due to publicly available information. 

 
F Additional information 

The earnings of the consolidated entity for the five years to 30 June 2016 are summarised below: 
 

 2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

2012 
$ 

 
Sales revenue 

 
14,150,521 

 
10,133,460 

 
7,940,622 

 
7,415,188 

 
6,460,516 

EBITDA (28,220,840) (23,120,891) (8,559,638) (2,750,544) (10,082,174) 
EBIT (29,764,781) (24,914,874) (9,846,302) (3,023,324) (10,357,773) 
Profit/(Loss) after tax (25,130,409) (26,799,970) (9,048,843) (2,418,497) (10,222,135) 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

REMUNERATION REPORT (continued) 

The factors that are considered to affect total shareholder return (‘TSR’) are summarised below: 
 

 2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

2012 
$ 

 
Share price at financial year end ($A) 

 
0.33 

 
0.70 

 
1.35 

 
0.49 

 
0.18 

Total dividends declared (cents per share) - - - - - 
Basic earnings per share (cents per share) (12.58) (16.48) (6.22) (2.08) (15.07) 

 

G Additional disclosure relating to key management personnel 

Shareholding 
The number of shares in the Company held during the year by each director and other members of key management personnel of 
the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below.  There were no shares granted during the 
reporting or comparative period as compensation. 
 

Ordinary shareholders 

 
Balance at the start of 

the year 
Received during the year 

on exercise of options 
Other changes during 

year 
Balance at the end of 

the year 

2016   
Directors of Admedus Limited    
W. Paterson - - 50,000 50,000 
J. Seaberg - - 19,036 19,036 
M. Bennett 12,574,000 - (11,316,600)(1)        1,257,400  
M. Ratty - - 10,088,587 10,088,587 
L. Rodne 26,993,684 - (26,993,684)(2) - 
C. Catlow 17,807,411 - (17,807,411) (2) - 
G. Rowley 20,059,215 - (20,059,215) (2) - 
P. Turvey 3,172,039 - (3,172,039) (2) - 
     
Other key management personnel of the group    
S. Mann - - 12,500 12,500 
J. Chick 4,685,713 - (4,192,974)(1) 492,739 

2015   
Directors of Admedus Limited    
C. Catlow 17,807,411 - - 17,807,411 
L. Rodne 26,279,398 - 714,286 26,993,684 
G Rowley 20,059,215 - - 20,059,215 
M. Bennett 12,494,000 - 80,000 12,574,000 
P. Turvey 2,442,202 333,333 396,504 3,172,039 
J. Seaberg - - - - 
W. Paterson - - - - 
     
Other key management personnel of the group    
S. Mann - - - - 
J. Chick 4,100,000 - 585,713 4,685,713 

 
(1) The balance relates to the option consolidation on a 10 for 1 basis  
(2) The balance relates to options held by directors who resigned during the year. 

 
H Loans to key management personnel 

No loans have currently been provided to key management personnel, 
 

THIS IS THE END OF THE AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

SHARES UNDER OPTION/WARRANT  

Unissued ordinary shares of Admedus Limited under option/warrant as at the date of this report are as follows: 

Date options granted Expiry date Issue price of shares Number under option Value of option at grant 
date 

12 Aug 2011 10 Jul 2016 60 cents 296,250 40.6 cents 

22 Aug 2011 10 Jul 2016 60 cents 5,002,334 8.6 cents 

18 May 2012 18 May 2017 60 cents 213,334 14.7 cents 

26 April 2013 1 March 2018 60 cents 200,000 16.7 cents 

18 June 2013 18 June 2018 95 cents 1,505,007 33.3 cents 

16 December 2013 16 December 2018 $2.70 900,000 100.5 cents 

28 March 2014 1 February 2019 $2.45 200,000 89.7 cents 

21 May 2014 1 July 2018 $1.70 300,000 64.0 cents 

21 May 2014 21 May 2019 $1.70 1,500,000 7.04 cents 

5 November 2014 5 November 2019 $2.10 410,000 70.1 cents 

30 June 2015 30 June 2020 $1.17 1,885,000 43.5 cents 

21 July 2015 21 July 2020 $1.44 1,350,000 40.9 cents 

10 December 2015 10 December 2020 $1.39 200,000 51.5 cents 

10 December 2015 10 December 2020 83 cents 475,000 58.5 cents 

18 December 2015 18 December 2020 79 cents 5,250,000 - 

23 December 2015 23 December 2020 79 cents 380,000 - 

24 June 2016 24 June 2021 30 cents 250,000 16.3 cents 

Total   20,316,925  

 
No option/warrant holder has any right under the options/warrants to participate in any other share issue of the Company or any 
other entity. The options/warrants are exercisable at any time after vesting or before the expiry date.   
 
During the period the following options lapsed: 
No unlisted options lapsed during the financial year (2015: 4,975,000). 
 
INSURANCE OF OFFICERS 

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors and Officers of the Company 
and any subsidiary against a liability incurred as a Director or Officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. Due to a 
confidentiality clause in the policy, the amount of the premium has not been disclosed. 
 
The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought against the 
officers in their capacity as officers of the Company, and any other payments arising from liabilities incurred by the officers in 
connection with such proceedings, other than where such liabilities arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the 
officers or the improper use by the officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or 
to cause detriment to the Company. It is not possible to apportion the premium between amounts relating to the insurance against 
legal costs and those relating to other liabilities. 
 
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the 
Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purposes of taking responsibility on behalf of 
the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 
 
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under section 237 of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties, where the auditors’ 
expertise and experience with the Company are important. 
 
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (HLB Mann Judd or BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd) for audit and non-audit services 
provided during the year are set out below. 
 
The board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received for the audit committee, is satisfied 
that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not 
compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

 all non-audit services have been reviewed by the audit committee to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and 
objectivity of the auditor; and 

 none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants. 

 
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Company, its related practices 
and non-related audit firms: 
 

 2016 
$ 

 2015 
$ 

Non-audit Services    

Related practices of HLB:    
Taxation services -  - 
Corporate finance services -  - 

 -  - 

    
Related practices of BDO:    
Taxation services -  - 
Corporate finance services -  8,058 

 -  8,058 

 
AUDITOR 

In accordance with s327C of the Corporations Act 2001, HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) will continue to hold office until the next 
AGM at which time shareholders will formally approve the new auditor. 

 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is attached. 
 
 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
WAYNE PATERSON 
 
 
Chairman 
Perth, Western Australia 

 
Dated 31 August 2016 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

 
 

 
As lead auditor for the audit of the consolidated financial report of Admedus Limited for the year ended 
30 June 2016, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions 
of: 

 
a) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

 
b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

Perth, Western Australia 
31 August 2016 

B McVeigh 
Partner 

HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership)  ABN 22 193 232 714 
Level 4, 130 Stirling Street Perth WA 6000. PO Box 8124 Perth BC 6849 Telephone +61 (08) 9227 7500. Fax +61 (08) 9227 7533.  
Email: hlb@hlbwa.com.au.  Website: http://www.hlb.com.au 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 
 

HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) is a member of   International, a worldwide organisation of accounting firms and business advisers 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

  CONSOLIDATED 

 Note 2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

Revenue from continuing operations  14,150,521 10,133,460 

Cost of sales  (9,028,415) (7,166,322) 

Gross profit  5,122,106 2,967,138 

    

Other income 4 4,730,256 1,263,752 

Employee benefits  (15,071,370) (12,124,703) 

Consultancy and legal fees  (3,537,924) (2,869,674) 

Travel and conference expenses  (3,879,003) (3,402,433) 

Research and development costs  (4,806,351) (2,545,522) 

Share based payments 25 (1,518,792) (1,054,649) 

Asset write-downs  4,866 (203,961) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  (1,543,942) (1,793,983) 

Financing costs  (73,514) (72,225) 

Other expense  (4,556,742) (4,035,078) 

    

Loss before income tax from continuing operations  (25,130,410) (23,871,337) 

Income tax (expense)/benefit 5 - (2,928,633) 

Loss after income tax for the year   (25,130,410) (26,799,971) 

    
 
Total loss is attributable to: 

   

Equity holders of Admedus Limited  (24,013,868) (25,253,843) 

Non-controlling interest 18 (1,116,542) (1,546,128) 

 
 (25,130,410) (26,799,971) 

    

Loss per share  from continuing operations attributable to ordinary 
equity  holders of the Company (cents per share) 

 Cents Cents 

Basic loss per share 20(b) (12.58) (16.48) 

Diluted loss per share  n/a n/a 
 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

  CONSOLIDATED 

 Note 2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

Loss for the year 
 (25,130,410) (26,799,971) 

FX translation  543,515 (79,415) 
Other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive loss  (24,586,895) (26,879,386) 

 
Total comprehensive loss is attributable to: 

   

Equity holders of Admedus Limited  (23,470,353) (25,333,258) 

Non-controlling interest 18 (1,116,542) (1,546,128) 

 
 (24,586,895) (26,879,386) 

 

 

The above Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2016 

  CONSOLIDATED 

 Note 2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

ASSETS    

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 21 8,813,119 24,025,859 

Trade and other receivables 6 4,217,828 2,459,352 

Inventories 7 3,591,464 3,022,405 

Total Current Assets  16,622,411 29,507,616 

Non-Current Assets 
   

Property, plant & equipment 8 2,696,225 2,957,922 

Intangibles 9 7,460,833 8,794,928 

Total Non-Current Assets  10,157,058 11,752,850 

TOTAL ASSETS 
 

26,779,469 41,260,466 

LIABILITIES    

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 11 2,599,901 1,316,645 

Provisions 12 1,072,983 924,424 

Total Current Liabilities  3,672,884 2,241,069 

Non-Current Liabilities 
   

Provisions 14 466,830 460,915 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  466,830 460,915 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  4,139,714 2,701,984 

NET ASSETS  22,639,753 38,558,482 

EQUITY 
   

Contributed equity 16 87,887,942 80,738,568 

Reserves 17 1,377,722 (8,646) 

Accumulated losses  (68,517,342) (44,503,474) 

  
20,748,322 36,226,448 

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of Admedus 
   

Non-controlling interest 18 1,891,431 2,332,034 

TOTAL EQUITY  22,639,753 38,558,482 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

 

 
Share Capital 

$ 

Share-based 
payments reserve 

$ 

 
Other Reserves 

$ 

Foreign currency 
translation reserve 

$ 

 
Accumulated Losses 

$ 

 
Total 

$ 

Non-controlling 
Interest 

$ 

 
Total Equity 

$ 
         

 
Balance at 1 July 2014 53,492,224 1,292,116 (758,701) - (19,249,631) 34,776,008 2,390,867 37,166,875 

         
Loss for the year - - - - (25,253,843) (25,253,843) (1,546,128) (26,799,971) 

Total comprehensive loss  - - - 
- 

(25,253,843) (25,253,843) (1,546,128) (26,799,971) 

Transactions with non-controlling interest - - (1,487,294) 
- 

- (1,487,294) 1,487,294 - 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners         

Shares issued during the period 28,149,234 - - - - 28,149,234 - 28,149,234 

Options issued during the period - 1,024,648 - - - 1,024,648 - 1,024,648 

Capital raising costs (1,648,743) - - - - (1,648,743) - (1,648,743) 

Recognise tax effect on capital raising costs 587,409 - - - - 587,409 - 587,409 

Foreign currency - subsidiaries - - - (79,415) - (79,415) - (79,415) 

Shares issued in lieu of contractor fees 30,000 - - - - 30,000 - 30,000 

Exercise of options 128,444 - - - - 128,444 - 128,444 

Balance at 30 June 2015 80,738,568 2,316,764 (2,245,995) (79,415) (44,503,474) 36,226,448 2,332,034 38,558,482 

         
Loss for the year - - - - (24,013,868) (24,013,868) (1,116,542) (25,130,410) 

Total comprehensive loss  - - - - (24,013,868) (24,013,868) (1,116,542) (25,130,410) 

Transactions with non-controlling interest - - (675,939) - - (675,939) 675,939 - 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners         

Shares issued during the period 7,431,600 - - - - 7,431,600 - 7,431,600 

Options issued during the period - 1,518,792 - - - 1,518,792 - 1,518,792 

Capital raising costs (608,548) - - - - (608,547) - (608,547) 

Foreign currency - subsidiaries - - - 543,515 - 543,515 - 543,515 

Shares issued in lieu of director fees 173,646 - - - - 173,646 - 173,646 

Shares issued in lieu of contractor fees 30,000 - - - - 30,000 - 30,000 

Shares issued in lieu of executive bonuses 11,026 - - - - 11,026 - 11,026 

Exercise of options 111,650 - - - - 111,650 - 111,650 

Balance at 30 June 2016 87,887,942 3,835,556 (2,921,934) 464,100 (68,517,342) 20,748,322 1,891,431 22,639,753 

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

  CONSOLIDATED 

 Note 2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Receipts from customers  13,461,729 9,436,178 

Payment to suppliers  (38,790,965) (32,123,910) 

Income taxes paid  - - 

R&D tax refund  3,296,408 1,024,795 

Grant income  - 147,990 

Interest paid  (73,514) (72,225) 

Interest received  165,818 90,968 

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 21(e) (21,940,524) (21,496,204) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Payments for property, plant & equipment   (279,722) (433,631) 

Payments for intangible assets  (106,144) (91,213) 

Additional shares acquired in subsidiary  - (165,000) 

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (385,866) (689,844) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
   

Proceeds from share or options issues  7,727,922 28,277,678 

Share issue transaction costs  (608,547) (1,648,743) 

NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  7,119,375 26,628,935 

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH HELD  (15,207,015) 4,442,887 

CASH AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR  24,025,859 19,582,972 

Exchange rate adjustments  (5,725) - 

CASH AT END OF THE YEAR 21(a) 8,813,119 24,025,859 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 

The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. 

The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the financial performance or 
position of the consolidated entity. 

Basis of preparation 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the AASB and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 

Historical cost convention 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, the revaluation 
of available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, investment properties, certain 
classes of property, plant and equipment and derivative financial instruments. 

Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management 
to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the consolidated entity's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 

Parent entity information 

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the consolidated entity only. 
Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 30. 

Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Admedus Limited ('company' or 'parent 
entity') as at 30 June 2016 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Admedus Limited and its subsidiaries together 
are referred to in these financial statements as the 'consolidated entity'. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity controls an entity when the 
consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control 
is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the consolidated 
entity. 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership interest, without the loss 
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration transferred and the book value of the 
share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly inequity attributable to the parent. 

Non-controlling interest in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the consolidated entity. Losses incurred by 
the consolidated entity are attributed to the non-controlling interest in full, even if that results in a deficit balance. 

Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it de-recognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and non-controlling 
interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The consolidated entity recognises 
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Reverse Acquisition 

In accordance with AASB 3 “Business Combinations”, when Admedus Limited (the legal parent) acquired Admedus Investments Pty 
Limited group (being Admedus Investments Pty Limited and its controlled entities Admedus (Australia) Pty Limited and Admedus (NZ) 
Limited) (the legal subsidiary), the acquisition was deemed to be a reverse acquisition since the substance of the transaction is that the 
existing shareholders of Admedus Investments Pty Limited have effectively acquired Admedus Limited. Under reverse acquisition 
accounting, the consolidated financial statements are prepared as if Admedus Investments Pty Limited had acquired Admedus Limited 
and its controlled entity, not vice versa as represented by the legal position. 

 In reverse acquisition accounting, the cost of the business is deemed to have been incurred by the legal subsidiary (the acquirer 
for accounting purposes) in the form of equity instruments issued to the owners of the legal parent (the acquiree for accounting 
purposes). However, due to the fact that the fair value of the equity instruments of the legal subsidiary (Admedus Investments 
Pty Limited) was not clearly evident at the date which the control was passed, the alternative method was elected (per AASB 
3), where the cost of the business combination was determined as the total fair value of all the issued equity instruments of 
the legal parent (Admedus Limited) immediately prior to the business combination. 

 In the separate financial statements of the legal parent (Admedus Limited), the investment in legal subsidiary (Admedus 
Investments Pty Limited) was accounted for at cost. 

As a consequence: 

 An exercise is performed to fair value the assets and liabilities of the legal acquirer, Admedus Limited; 

 The cost of the investment held by the legal parent (Admedus Limited) in the legal subsidiary (Admedus Investments Pty 
Limited) is reversed on consolidation and the cost of the reverse acquisition is eliminated on consolidation against the 
consolidated equity and reserves of Admedus Investments Pty Limited and its consolidated entities at date when control is 
passed. The effect of this is to restate the consolidated equity and reserves balances to reflect those of Admedus Investments 
Pty Limited at the date of acquisition; 

 The amount recognised as issued equity instruments are determined by adding to the issued equity of the legal subsidiary 
immediately before the business combination, the cost of the combination; and 

 The consolidated financial statements are issued under the name of the legal parent (Admedus Limited) but are a continuation 
of the financial statements of the deemed acquirer (Admedus Investments Pty Limited) under the reverse acquisition rules.  

Business combinations 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether equity instruments or other 
assets are acquired. 

The consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred, equity instruments issued or 
liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For 
each business combination, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree is measured at either fair value or at the proportionate share of 
the acquiree's identifiable net assets. All acquisition costs are expensed as incurred to profit or loss. 

On the acquisition of a business, the consolidated entity assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the consolidated entity's operating or 
accounting policies and other pertinent conditions in existence at the acquisition-date. 

Where the business combination is achieved in stages, the consolidated entity re-measures its previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree at the acquisition-date fair value and the difference between the fair value and the previous carrying amount is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in 
the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration 
classified as equity is not re-measured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 

The difference between the acquisition-date fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the fair value of the consideration transferred and the fair value of any pre-existing investment in the acquiree is recognised 
as goodwill. If the consideration transferred and the pre-existing fair value is less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, 
being a bargain purchase to the acquirer, the difference is recognised as a gain directly in profit or loss by the acquirer on the acquisition-
date, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired, the non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree, if any, the consideration transferred and the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquirer. 

Business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The acquirer retrospectively adjusts the provisional amounts 
recognised and also recognises additional assets or liabilities during the measurement period, based on new information obtained 
about the facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition-date. The measurement period ends on either the earlier of (i) 12 
months from the date of the acquisition or (ii) when the acquirer receives all the information possible to determine fair value. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Segment reporting 

Operating segments are presented using the 'management approach', where the information presented is on the same basis as the 
internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM'). The CODM is responsible for the allocation of resources to 
operating segments and assessing their performance. 

Foreign currency translation 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Admedus Limited's functional and presentation currency. 

Foreign currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.  
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at financial year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. 

Foreign operations 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates at the reporting date. 
The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars using the average exchange rates, which 
approximate the rate at the date of the transaction, for the period. All resulting foreign exchange differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income through the foreign currency reserve in equity. 

The foreign currency reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the foreign operation or net investment is disposed of. 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the consolidated entity and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

Sale of goods 

Sale of goods revenue is recognised at the point of sale, which is where the customer has taken delivery of the goods, the risks and 
rewards are transferred to the customer and there is a valid sales contract. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of sales returns and 
trade discounts. 

Interest 

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the amortised cost 
of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial 
asset. 

Other revenue 

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 

Government Grants 

Grants from the Government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and 
the Group will comply with all attached conditions. 

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the income statement over the period necessary to match them with 
the costs that they are intended to compensate. 

Income tax 

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences, 
unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets are 
recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except for: 

 When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor taxable 
profits; or 

 When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and the timing 
of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable 
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed each reporting date. Deferred tax assets 
recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the carrying amount 
to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that there are future 
taxable profits available to recover the asset. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable   authority on either the same taxable 
entity or different taxable entity's which intend to settle simultaneously. 

Admedus Limited (the 'head entity') and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated group under 
the tax consolidation regime from 1 July 2013. The head entity and each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group continue to account for 
their own current and deferred tax amounts. The tax consolidated group has applied the ‘separate taxpayer within group’ approach in 
determining the appropriate amount of taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognizes the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the 
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group. 

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts receivable from or 
payable to other entities in the tax consolidated group. The tax funding arrangement ensures that the intercompany charge equals the 
current tax liability or benefit of each tax consolidated group member, resulting in neither a contribution by the head entity to the 
subsidiaries nor a distribution by the subsidiaries to the head entity. 

Current and non-current classification 

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. An asset is current 
when: it is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of 
trading; it is expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless 
restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. All other assets are 
classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is 
due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents 
also includes bank overdrafts, which are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 

Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days. 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are written off by reducing 
the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is raised when there is objective evidence that the 
consolidated entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default or delinquency in 
payments (more than 60 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable may be impaired. The amount of the 
impairment allowance is the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of 
discounting is immaterial. 

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. 

Inventories 

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a weighted average cost 
formula. Cost comprises direct materials and delivery costs, direct labour, import duties and other taxes, an appropriate proportion 
of variable and fixed overhead expenditure based on normal operating capacity, and, where applicable, transfers from cash flow 
hedging reserves in equity. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts received or receivable. 

Stock in transit is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises purchase and delivery costs, net of rebates and 
discounts received or receivable. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

Finished goods 

Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on periodic, at least every 3 years, valuations by external independent valuers, less 
subsequent depreciation and impairment for buildings. The valuations are undertaken more frequently if there is a material change in 
the fair value relative to the carrying amount. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the 
gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Increases in the carrying 
amounts arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited in other comprehensive income through to the revaluation surplus 
reserve in equity. Any revaluation decrements are initially taken in other comprehensive income through to the revaluation surplus 
reserve to the extent of any previous revaluation surplus of the same asset. Thereafter the decrements are taken to profit or loss. 

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment (excluding 
land) over their expected useful lives as follows: 

Leasehold improvements 3-15 years 
Plant and equipment 3-7 years 

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

Leasehold improvements and plant and equipment under lease are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
useful life of the assets, whichever is shorter. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the consolidated 
entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss. Any revaluation surplus 
reserve relating to the item disposed of is transferred directly to retained profits. 

Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an 
assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement 
conveys a right to use the asset. 

A distinction is made between finance leases, which effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee substantially all the risks and 
benefits incidental to ownership of leased assets, and operating leases, under which the lessor effectively retains substantially all such 
risks and benefits. 

Finance leases are capitalised. A lease asset and liability are established at the fair value of the leased assets, or if lower, the present 
value of minimum lease payments. Lease payments are allocated between the principal component of the lease liability and the 
finance costs, so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

Leased assets acquired under a finance lease are depreciated over the asset's useful life or over the shorter of the asset's useful life and 
the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the consolidated entity will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term. 

Operating lease payments, net of any incentives received from the lessor, are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease. 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair value at the date of 
the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Indefinite life intangible assets are not amortised 
and are subsequently measured at cost less any impairment. Finite life intangible assets are subsequently measured at cost less 
amortisation and any impairment. The gains or losses recognised in profit or loss arising from the de-recognition of intangible assets are 
measured as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the intangible asset. 

The method and useful lives of finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. Changes in the expected pattern of consumption or 
useful life are accounted for prospectively by changing the amortisation method or period. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of a business. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested annually for impairment, 
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to profit or loss and are not subsequently reversed. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Research and development 

Research costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Development costs are capitalised, up to the stage of 
commercialization, when it is probable that the project will be a success considering its commercial and technical feasibility; the 
consolidated entity is able to use or sell the asset; the consolidated entity has sufficient resources; and intent to complete the 
development and its costs can be measured reliably. Capitalised development costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period 
of their expected benefit, being their finite life of up to 17 years. 

Patents and trademarks 

Significant costs associated with patents and trademarks are deferred and amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their 
expected benefit, being their finite life of up to 17 years. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other non-financial assets 
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the present value of 
the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to form a cash-generating unit. 

Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the financial 
year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable the consolidated entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage 
of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be settled within 
12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Other long-term employee benefits 

The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are measured as 
the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using 
the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

Defined contribution superannuation expense 

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

Retirement benefit obligations 

All employees of the consolidated entity are entitled to benefits from the consolidated entity's superannuation plan on retirement, 
disability or death. The consolidated entity only has a defined contribution section within its plan. The defined contribution section 
receives fixed contributions from entities in the consolidated entity and the consolidated entity's legal or constructive obligation is 
limited to these contributions. 

Share-based payments 

Equity-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees. 

Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares that are provided to employees in exchange for the rendering 
of services. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently determined using either 
the Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of 
dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the 
risk free interest rate for the term of the option, together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine whether the consolidated 
entity receives the services that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account is taken of any other vesting conditions. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting period. The 
cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the best estimate of the number of 
awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit or loss for the period is the 
cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already recognised in previous periods. 

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to market conditions are 
considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other conditions are satisfied. 

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. An additional 
expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based 
compensation benefit as at the date of modification. 

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the consolidated entity or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is treated as 
a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the consolidated entity or employee and is not satisfied during the vesting 
period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the award is forfeited. 

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining expense is 
recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled and new award is treated as 
if they were a modification. 

Fair value measurement 

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair value is 
based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principle market; or in the 
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming they 
act in their economic best interest. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and best use. 
Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, are 
used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified, into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of 
the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed each reporting date and transfers between levels are 
determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 

For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external valuers may be used when internal expertise is either not available 
or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. External valuers are selected based on market knowledge and reputation. Where 
there is a significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from one period to another, an analysis is undertaken, which includes 
a verification of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation and a comparison, where applicable, with external sources of data. 

Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds. 

Dividends 

Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial year and no longer at the discretion of the company. 

Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Admedus Limited, excluding any costs of 
servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, 
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 

Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after 
income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average 
number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from 
the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which 
are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority.  

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted 

The Directors have also reviewed all new Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective for the year ended 
30 June 2016. As a result of this review the Directors have determined that there is no material impact, of the new and revised Standards 
and Interpretations on the Group and, therefore, no change is necessary to Group accounting policies. 

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, 
liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgments, estimates and assumptions on historical 
experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events that management believes to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
(refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are discussed below. 

Share-based payment transactions 

The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using either the Binomial or Black-Scholes model 
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions 
relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. 

Provision for impairment of receivables 

The provision for impairment of receivables assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level of provision is 
assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, the ageing of receivables, historical collection rates and specific knowledge 
of the individual debtor’s financial position. 

Provision for impairment of inventories 

The provision for impairment of inventories assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level of the provision is 
assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, the ageing of inventories and other factors that affect inventory 
obsolescence. 

Fair value measurement hierarchy 

The consolidated entity is required to classify all assets and liabilities, measured at fair value, using a three level hierarchy, based on the 
lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being: Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date; Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and Level 3: Unobservable inputs 
for the asset or liability. Considerable judgement is required to determine what is significant to fair value and therefore which category 
the asset or liability is placed in can be subjective. 

The fair value of assets and liabilities classified as level 3 is determined by the use of valuation models. These include discounted 
cash flow analysis or the use of observable inputs that require significant adjustments based on unobservable inputs. 

Estimation of useful lives of assets 

The consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property, 
plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of technical innovations 
or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated 
lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued) 

Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 

The consolidated entity tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment, whether 
goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in 
note 1. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations 
require the use of assumptions, including estimated discount rates based on the current cost of capital and growth rates of the estimated 
future cash flows. 

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 

The consolidated entity assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets at 
each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the consolidated entity and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. 
If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. This involves fair value less costs of disposal or 
value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions. 

Income tax 

The consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgment is required in determining 
the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which 
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The consolidated entity recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on the 
consolidated entity's current understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the carrying 
amounts, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

Recovery of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the consolidated entity considers it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Employee benefits provision 

As discussed in note 1, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting date are 
recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the 
reporting date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion 
and inflation have been taken into account. 

Lease make good provision 

A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated costs for future restoration of leased premises. The provision 
includes future cost estimates associated with closure of the premises. The calculation of this provision requires assumptions such as 
application of closure dates and cost estimates. The provision recognised for each site is periodically reviewed and updated based on the 
facts and circumstances available at the time. Changes to the estimated future costs for sites are recognised in the statement of 
financial position by adjusting the asset and the provision. Reductions in the provision that exceed the carrying amount of the asset will 
be recognised in profit or loss. 

Business combinations 

As discussed in note 1, business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The fair value of assets acquired, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are initially estimated by the consolidated entity taking into consideration all available 
information at the reporting date. Fair value adjustments on the finalisation of the business combination accounting is retrospective, 
where applicable, to the period the combination occurred and may have an impact on the assets and liabilities, depreciation and 
amortisation reported. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks (including interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk). The Group’s overall 
risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of the financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on 
the financial performance of the Group. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments, however, the Group uses different 
methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate 
risk, ageing analysis for credit risk and at present are not exposed to price risk. 
 
Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors with assistance from suitably qualified external advisors. The Board provides 
written principles for overall risk management and further policies will evolve commensurate with the evolution and growth of the 
Company. 
 
The Group and the Company hold the following financial instruments: 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 2016 2015 

 $ $ 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 8,813,119 24,025,859 

Trade and other receivables 4,217,828 2,459,352 

 13,030,947 26,485,211 

   

Financial liabilities   

Trade and other payables 2,599,901 1,316,645 

 2,599,901 1,316,645 

Net financial assets 10,431,046 25,168,566 

 
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short-term deposits. The Group does not have any borrowings in the 
current year. 
 
The main purpose of the financial instruments is to fund the Group’s operations.   
 
It is, and has been throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken. 
The main risks arising from the Group are cash flow (interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk). The Board reviews and agrees policies 
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below: 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(a) Market Risk 
 
Cash flow and interest rate risk 

The Group’s only interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents held. Term deposits and current accounts held with variable 
interest rates expose the group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Company does not consider this to be material to the Group and has 
therefore not undertaken any further analysis of risk exposure. 
 
The following sets out the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, including the effective weighted average interest rate by maturity 
periods: 
 

 
 

 
 

Note 
Weighted average 

interest rate 
Total 

$ 

30 June 2016 Consolidated 
 

 
  

Financial assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 21 0.3% 8,813,119 

 
 

 
  

30 June 2015 Consolidated 
 

 
  

Financial assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 21 0.3% 24,025,859 

 
Sensitivity 
At 30 June 2016, if interest rates had increased by 0.15% or decreased by 0.2% from the year end rates with all other variables held 
constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been $13,220 lower/$17,626 higher (2015 changes of 0.15%/0.2%: $36,039 lower/ 
$48,052 higher), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income from cash and cash equivalents. 
 
(b) Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial 
institutions, as well as credit exposures to retail customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. For banks and 
financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of 'A' are accepted. Otherwise, if there is no independent 
rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. 
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The compliance with credit 
limits by wholesale customers is regularly monitored by line management. Sales to retail customers are required to be settled in cash or 
using major credit cards, mitigating credit risk. 
 
For some receivables in Note 6 the group obtained deposits to cover the cost of defaults by customers. The credit quality of financial 
assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical 
information about counterparty default rates. 
 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 2016 2015 

 $ $ 

Cash at bank and short-term bank deposits   

AA 8,813,119 24,025,859 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(c) Foreign currency risk management 
 
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. 
Exchange rate exposures are currently managed via natural hedges. 
 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the balance date 
expressed in Australian dollars are as follows: 
 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 Liabilities Assets 

 2016 2015 2016 2015 

 $ $ $ $ 

US Dollars 45,894 20,615 1,405,310 543,615 

Euros 146,430 17,230 148,548 186,421 

NZ Dollars 2,578 - 248,516 193,336 

Singapore Dollars 6,881 - 16,733 100,335 

Total 201,783 37,845 1,819,107 1,023,707 

 
 
(d) Liquidity Risk 
 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash balances and access to equity funding.   
 
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to cash assets and floating interest rates. The Group 
does not have significant interest-bearing assets and is not materially exposed to changes in market interest rates. 
 
The Directors monitor the cash-burn rate of the Group on an ongoing basis against budget. As at reporting date the Group had sufficient 
cash reserves to meet its requirements. The Group has no access to credit standby facilities or arrangements for further funding or 
borrowings in place. 
 
The financial liabilities the Group had at reporting date were trade payables incurred in the normal course of the business. These were 
non-interest bearing and were due within the normal 30-60 days terms of creditor payments.  
 
Maturities of financial liabilities 

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting 
date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.   

 

 
  

  
 

Less than  
6 months 

 
 

6-12 
months 1-2 years 2-5 years 

Over 5 
years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Carrying 
amount 
(assets)/ 
liabilities 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Group – At 30 June 2016 
 

  

     
Non-derivatives        

Trade and other payables 2,599,901 - - - - 2,599,901 2,599,901 

Non-interest bearing - - - - - - - 

Total non-derivatives 2,599,901 - - - - 2,599,901 2,599,901 

Group – At 30 June 2015 
 

  

     
Non-derivatives        

Trade and other payables 1,316,645 - - - - 1,316,645 1,316,645 

Non-interest bearing - - - - - - - 

Total non-derivatives 1,316,645 - - - - 1,316,645 1,316,645 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(e) Fair Value Estimation 
 
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes. 
 
The carrying value less impairment provision of receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their 
short-term nature. 
 
The consolidated entity’s principal financial instruments consist of cash and deposits with banks, accounts receivable, trade payables and 
loans payable. The main purpose of these non-derivative financial instruments is to finance the entity’s operations. 
 
4. PROFIT AND LOSS INFORMATION 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

Breakdown of Other income    

Grant income  - 147,990 

Interest income  165,818 90,967 

Research and development tax incentive  4,542,068 1,024,795 

Sundry income  22,371 - 

Total other income  4,730,256 1,263,752 

 
5. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(BENEFIT) 

  CONSOLIDATED 
  2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

(a) Income tax expense/(benefit)    

Current tax  - (59,949) 
Deferred tax – origination and reversal of temporary differences  425,424 496,245 
Deferred tax – reversal of prior period temporary differences (c)  - 2,492,337 

  425,424 2,928,633 

Deferred tax included in income tax expense comprises:    
Decrease/(Increase) in deferred tax assets (Note 10)  - 2,928,633 

Deferred tax – origination and reversal of temporary differences  
 

- 
 

2,928,633 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

5. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(BENEFIT) (continued) 

  CONSOLIDATED 
  2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax benefit to prima facie tax 
payable 

   

Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense  (25,130,410) (23,871,337) 

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2015: 30%)  (7,539,123) (7,161,401) 

Tax effect of amounts that are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable 
income: 

   

Share based payments  455,637 316,395 
Legal expenses  589,592 423,691 
R&D Tax Incentive eligible expenditure  - 735,801 
R&D Tax Incentive income  (1,313,716) (307,439) 
Amortisation  111,146 373,034 
Current and past year share issue expenses  - (216,163) 
Sundry items – net non-deductible/(non-assessable)  444,074 (156,739) 

  (7,252,390) (5,992,821) 

    
Deferred tax – current year benefits not recognised  7,252,390 6,429,117 
Deferred tax – reversal of prior period temporary differences (c)  - 2,492,337 

Income tax expense/(benefit)  - 2,928,633 

 

(c) Tax consolidation legislation 
   

As disclosed in Note 1, during the year ended 30 June 2015 Admedus and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities have 
implemented the tax consolidation legislation effective from 1 July 2013.  Deferred tax balances as at 30 June 2015 have therefore 
been adjusted and as a result, the previously recognised deferred tax asset has been expensed in the current financial year. This is 
due to the wholly owned Australian controlled entity losses now available, as a result of the consolidation, to offset future wholly 
owned Australian controlled entity profits. 

    
(d) Amounts charged/(credited) directly to equity 

   

Deferred tax assets (Note 10)  - 587,409 

 

6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

  CONSOLIDATED 
  2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

Current    

Trade receivables  2,332,841 1,819,883 

  2,332,841 1,819,883 

Other receivables and prepayments  1,884,987 639,469 

  4,217,828 2,459,352 

 
Other receivables arise from deferment of cost of sales in relation to capital equipment sold to Mater Misericordiae Hospital in 
Townsville. Cost of sales will be spread across five years in line with agreed consumable purchases under tender. Balance also includes 
prepayments and security deposits for rental of corporate offices similar costs were included in June 2015. 

Refer to Note 3 for information on the risk management policy of the Group. 
  



 

 

38 

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

(a) Past due but not impaired 

As at 30 June 2016, trade receivables of $218,194 (2015: $135,719) were past due but not impaired. These relate to customers for whom 
there is no recent history of default.  A significant portion of these trade receivables past due but not impaired have been subsequently 
paid post 30 June 2016.  The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows: 

 2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

   

Over 90 days 218,194 135,719 

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based on the history of these 
other classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received. 

 
7. INVENTORIES 

  CONSOLIDATED 
  2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

Raw materials – at cost 
 

150,500 175,066 

Work in progress – at net realisable value 
 

192,693 174,699 

Finished goods – at net realisable value 
 

           - 390,897 

Finished goods – at cost 
 

3,248,271 2,281,743 

 
 

3,591,464 3,022,405 

(a) Inventory expense 

Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value recognised as an expense during the year ended 30 June 2016 amounted to $0 (2015: 
$186,990). 

 
8. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 

  CONSOLIDATED 
  2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

Plant & equipment    

Cost  4,408,989 4,129,267 

Accumulated depreciation  (1,712,764) (1,171,345) 

Net book amount  2,696,225 2,957,922 

    

Reconciliation 
   

Opening net book amount  2,957,922 3,297,854 

Additions  279,722 433,631 

Disposals – Cost  - (63,919) 

Disposals – Accumulated depreciation  - 63,919 

Depreciation charge  (541,419) (773,563) 

Closing net book amount  2,696,225 2,957,922 

 
No non-current assets are pledged as security by the Group. 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

 
9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

  CONSOLIDATED 
  2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

Patents  276,637 367,283 

Intellectual property  2,277,102 2,526,483 

Technology Licence  3,317,801 4,311,870 

Goodwill  1,589,293 1,589,293 

  7,460,833 8,794,929 

Reconciliation - Patents    

Opening net book value  367,283 276,070 

Additions - acquisitions  106,144 91,213 

Amortisation  (196,790)  

Closing net book value  276,637 367,283 

Reconciliation – Intellectual property    

Opening net book value  2,526,483 2,775,863 

Amortisation  (249,381) (249,380) 

Closing net book value  2,277,102 2,526,483 

Reconciliation – Technology Licence    

Opening net book value  4,311,870 5,305,935 

Amortisation  (994,069) (994,065) 

Closing net book value  3,317,801 4,311,870 

Reconciliation – Goodwill    

Opening net book value  1,589,293 1,589,293 

Closing net book value  1,589,293 1,589,293 

 
The fair value of technology licence and goodwill from Admedus Vaccines transaction were calculated on 30 June 2013. An impairment 
test was completed at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015 with no impairment calculated.  The impairment test was performed on the basis 
of utilising the fair value less costs to sell valuation methodology. 
 
The fair value has been determined by Griffith Hack (independent IP valuers) using the income approach and Risk Adjusted Discounted 
Cash Flow method. A licensing business model was assumed, with the Company’s forecast earnings stream based on royalty income 
received from a hypothetical licensee. This methodology is commonly used to value pre-revenue companies and, despite the uncertainty 
inherent to development technology, it is the method of investors in pharmaceutical and biotech start-up and pre-revenue companies. 
 
The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 24.6% (2015: 25.0%) and cash flows are calculated using Implied Peak Sales of $2.0B 
to $3.8B for HSV-2 and $1.2B for HPV (2015: HSV-2 $2.0B to$3.8B and HPV $1.2B) using a cumulative probability of success of 24% HSV-2 
and 14% HPV (2015: 24% HSV-2 and 14% HPV) and royalty of 4.75% (2015: 4.75%). 
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10. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 

The composition and movement of deferred assets is as follows: 
 

  
Balance  

30 June 14 
$ 

Recognised in 
profit or loss 

$ 

 
Recognised 

in equity 
$ 

 
Balance  

30 June 15 
$ 

Recognised 
in profit or 

loss 
$ 

 
Recognised 

in equity 
$ 

 
Balance  

30 June 16 
$ 

Provisions 344,306 98,308 - 442,614 - - 442,614 

Accruals 10,500 120,846 - 131,346 (35,479) - 95,867 

Share issue costs 
through equity 

475,737 - 587,409 1,063,146 - - 1,063,146 

Property, plant 
and equipment 

(977,159) 342,199 - (634,960) 98,852 - (536,108) 

Intangible assets (2,424,539) 431,188 - (1,993,351) 316,562 - (1,676,789) 

Tax losses carried 
forward 

8,804,154 1,676,383 - 10,480,537 4,995,030 - 15,475,567 

Sub-total 6,232,999 2,668,924 587,409 9,489,332 5,374,965 - 14,864,297 

Unrecognised net 
deferred tax 
assets 

(3,891,775) (5,597,557) - (9,489,332) (5,374,965) - (14,864,297) 

Tax assets 2,341,224 (2,928,633) 587,409 - - - - 

 
Deferred tax assets are attributable to the following: 

 
Consolidated Assets Liabilities Net 
 2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 
2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 
2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

Provisions 442,614 442,614 - - 442,614 442,614 

Accruals 95,867 131,346 - - 95,867 131,346 

Share issue costs through equity 1,063,146 1,063,146 - - 1,063,146 1,063,146 

Property, plant and equipment - - (536,108) (634,960) (536,108) (634,960) 

Intangible assets - - (1,676,789) (1,993,351) (1,676,789) (1,993,351) 

Tax losses carried forward 15,475,567 10,480,537 - - 15,475,567 10,480,537 

Sub-total 17,077,194 12,117,643 (2,212,897) (2,628,311) 14,864,297 9,489,332 

Set off of tax (2,212,897) (2,628,311) 2,212,897 2,628,311 - - 

Unrecognised net deferred tax assets (14,864,297) (9,489,332) - - (14,864,297) (9,489,332) 

Tax assets - - - - - - 

 

 

(a) Tax losses 
   

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax assets have been recognised    

      Australian losses  30,828,845 24,544,946 

      Foreign losses  20,756,377 8,338,671 

      Sub-total  51,585,222 32,883,617 

Potential tax benefit at 30%  15,475,567 9,865,085 

 
All unused tax losses were incurred by Australian and foreign entities. Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognised have not been recognised as the future recovery of those losses is subject to the Company satisfying the requirements 
imposed by the regulatory taxation authorities in the relevant tax jurisdictions. 
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11. CURRENT LIABILITIES – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

  

    CONSOLIDATED 
  2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

Trade payables  1,058,079 720,165 

Other payables and accruals  1,541,822 596,480 

  2,599,901 1,316,645 

Refer to Note 3 for information on the risk management policy of the Group. 

 
12. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

Employee benefits (a)  1,072,983 924,424 
 

(a) Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months 

The current provision for employee benefits includes accrued annual leave, vesting sick leave and long service leave.  For long service 
leave it covers all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the required period of service and also those where 
employees are entitled to pro-rata payments in certain circumstances.  The entire amount of the provision is presented as current, 
since the group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these obligations. However, based on past 
experience, the group does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued leave or require payment within the next 12 
months. 

 

13. CURRENT LIABILITIES – INCOME TAX 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

Provision for income tax  - - 

 
14. NON CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS 

 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

Lease make good (a)  466,830 460,915 

 

(a)      Lease make good provision 

The lease make good provision relates to the removing of lease hold improvements including laboratories and clean rooms in 
accordance with lease agreement. Provision based on valuation by Griffin Valuation Advisory. 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

15. CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiary in accordance with the 
accounting policy described at Note 1. 

 

Name of entity 
Class of 
share 

Country of 
Incorporation 

Equity Holding Cost to Company 
2016 

% 
2015 

% 
2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 
Accounting Parent Entity       

Admedus Investments Pty Limited  Australia 100 100 29,551,042 29,551,042 

Legal Parent Entity       

Admedus Limited Ordinary Australia - - - - 

Controlled Entities       

Admedus (NZ) Limited Ordinary New Zealand 100 100 1 1 
Admedus (Australia) Pty Limited Ordinary Australia 100 100 847,423 847,423 
Admedus Regen Pty Limited Ordinary Australia 88.9 88.9 11,406,556 11,406,556 
Admedus Corporation 
Admedus Vaccines Pty Limited 

Ordinary 
Ordinary 

USA 
Australia 

100 
72.8 

100 
66.3 

104 
13,000,049 

104 
9,500,049 

Admedus GmbH Ordinary Switzerland 100 100 23,151 23,151 
Admedus Biomanufacturing Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100 1 1 
Admedus (Singapore) Pty Ltd Ordinary Singapore 100 100 1 1 

     54,828,328 51,328,328 

 
The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held. 
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16. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 
 

  SHARES $ 

  2016 2015 2016 2015 

(a) Share Capital 
     

Ordinary shares 
     

Fully paid  196,254,798 1,845,399,036 87,887,943 80,738,568 

 

 Date Notes No. shares Issue Price $ 

      

(b) Movements in Ordinary Share Capital 
     

Details      

Balance 30/6/14  1,441,087,921  53,492,224 

Shares issued in lieu of consulting fees  (d) 200,937 0.1493 30,000 

Rights issue  (e) 230,631,912 0.07 16,144,234 

Share placement  (f) 171,500,000 0.07 12,005,000 

Conversion of options  (g) 1,978,266 0.065 128,444 

Recognise tax effect on capital raising costs   -  587,409 

Transaction costs     (1,648,743) 

Balance 30/6/15  1,845,399,036  80,738,568 

Shares issued in lieu of employee bonuses  (h) 143,196 0.077 11,026 

Conversion of options  (i) 1,620,833 0.06 97,250 

Share consolidation  (j) (1,662,445,029)  - 

Shares issued in lieu of consulting fees  (k) 38,119 0.787 30,000 

Shares issued in lieu of directors fees  (l) 214,643 0.809 173,646 

Share placement  (m) 11,260,000 0.66 7,431,600 

Conversion of options  (n) 24,000 0.60 14,400 

Transaction costs   -  (608,548) 

Balance 30/6/16  196,254,798  87,887,942 

 

 

(c) Ordinary Shares 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds of winding up of the Company in proportion to the number 
of and amounts paid on the shares held. 
  
On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting, in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote and upon a poll 
each share is entitled to one vote. 
 
(d) Shares issued in lieu of consulting fees 

In October 2014, a consultant elected to receive their fee as shares at an issue price of $0.1493 (based on the 10 day VWAP). 
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16. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued) 
 
(e) Share Rights Issue 

A non-renounceable rights issue of shares was undertaken at an issue price of $0.07 per share.   
 
(f) Share placement 

In March 2015, current shareholders and sophisticated investors were approached to make further investment in the Group at a $0.07 
per share. 
 
(g) Shares under option 

Between 1 July and 30 June 2015, 1,703,333 unlisted options were exercised at $0.06 each, 249,933 unlisted options were exercised at 
$0.095 each and 25,000 unlisted options were exercised at $0.10 each. Information in relation to the current options issued, exercised 
or lapsed during the financial year is set out Note 17 (a).  
 
(h) Shares issued in lieu of employee bonuses 

In August 2015, an employee elected to receive their bonus as shares at an issue price of $0.077 (based on market rate on date of 
issue). 
 
(i) Shares under option 

Between 1 July 2015 and 26 November 2015, 1,620,833 unlisted options were exercised at $0.06 each. Information in relation to the 
current options issued, exercised or lapsed during the financial year is set out Note 17 (a).  
 
(j) Share Consolidation 

On 26 November the Company completed a share and option consolidation on a 10 for 1 basis as approval at the 2015 AGM. 
 
(k) Shares issued in lieu of consulting fees 

In December 2015, a consultant elected to receive their fee as shares at an issue price of $0.787 (based on the 10 day VWAP). 
 
(l) Shares issued in lieu of directors fees 

In December 2015, directors elected to receive a portion of their fees as shares at an issue price of $0.809 (based on the 5 day VWAP). 
 
(m) Share placement 

In December 2015, current shareholders and sophisticated investors were approached to make further investment in the Group at a 
$0.66 per share. 
 
(n) Shares under option 

Between 26 November 2015 and 30 June 2016, 24,000 unlisted options were exercised at $0.06 each. Information in relation to the 
current options issued, exercised or lapsed during the financial year is set out Note 17 (a).  
 
(o) Capital Risk Management 

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern and to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.   
 
The Board of Directors monitors capital on an ad-hoc basis. No formal targets are in place for return on capital or gearing ratios as the 
Group has not derived any income from the developing technology and currently has no debt facilities in place. The Group defines capital 
as equity and net debt. 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

17. EQUITY – RESERVES 

 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

(a)  Reserves    

Share based payments  3,835,556 2,316,764 

Other reserve  (2,921,934) (2,245,995) 

Foreign currency translation reserve  464,100 (79,415) 

  1,377,722 (8,646) 

 

Reconciliation - Share based payment  Date No. options/ 
warrants 

Valuation $ 

   
   

Balance  30/6/14 109,983,334  1,292,116 

Unlisted options exercised   (1,978,266) 0.065 - 

Unlisted options cancelled   (4,975,000) 0.10 - 

Unlisted options issued   4,100,000 0.21 14,695 

Unlisted options issued   18,850,000 0.117 748 

Share based payment    - - 1,009,205 

Balance  30/6/15 125,980,068  2,316,764 

Unlisted options exercised   (1,620,833) 0.06 - 

Unlisted options issued   13,500,000 0.041 173,986 

Unlisted options consolidation   (124,073,310) - - 

Unlisted options exercised   (24,000) 0.60 - 

Unlisted options issued   200,000 0.515 19,105 

Unlisted options issued   475,000 0.585 21,556 

Unlisted warrants issued   5,630,000 0.79 - 

Unlisted options issued   250,000 0.163 224 

Share based payment    - - 1,303,921 

Balance  30/6/16 20,316,925  3,835,556 

 

 CONSOLIDATED 

Reconciliation – Other reserve 2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

   

Opening balances (2,245,995) (758,701) 

Gain in Non-Controlling Interests (675,939) (1,487,294) 

Closing balance (2,921,934) (2,245,995) 
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17. EQUITY – RESERVES (continued) 
 

 CONSOLIDATED 

Reconciliation – Foreign currency translation reserve 2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

   

Opening balances (79,415) - 

Foreign exchange on subsidiaries 543,515 (79,415) 

Closing balance 464,100 (79,415) 

 
(b) Nature and purpose 
 
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the grant date fair value of options issued to employees but not exercised. 
 
The other reserve reflects the additional consideration paid by the Company, over and above the historical fair value of the subsidiary 
assessed at the time of gaining control, to acquire a portion of the remaining non-controlling interests. 
 
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 
of foreign operations to Australian dollars. 

 
18. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

Interest in:    

Share Capital         17,081,028  19,652,479 

Reserves           2,921,934  2,245,995 

Accumulated losses        (18,111,531)  (19,566,440) 

           1,891,431  2,332,034 

 
Set out below is summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are material to the group.  
The amounts disclosed for each subsidiary are before inter-company eliminations. 
 

 Admedus Vaccines Pty Ltd Admedus Regen Pty Ltd 
 2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 
2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

Current assets        1,911,835  310,615        2,294,042  4,448,034 

Current liabilities            195,552  170,690            288,514  105,105 

Current net assets        1,716,283  139,925        2,005,528  4,342,928 

Non-current assets        4,912,260  5,909,004        2,641,260  2,999,117 

Non-current liabilities                        -    -                        -    - 

Non-current net assets        4,912,260  5,909,004        2,641,260  2,999,117 

Net assets        6,628,543  6,048,929        4,646,787  7,342,045 

Accumulated non-controlling interests        1,369,164  1,505,374            517,187  826,660 
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18. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (continued) 

 

Revenue - - 2,955,786 1,405,981 

Loss for the year/Total comprehensive loss (2,921,502) (3,826,114) (2,695,258) (2,162,530) 

Loss allocated to non-controlling interests (816,560) (1,235,931) (299,982) (310,197) 

     

Cash flows from operating activities (1,837,239) (3,088,104) (3,027,471) (1,832,233) 

Cash flows from investing activities - (9,313) (117,695) (2,342,484) 

Cash flows from financing activities 3,500,000 3,000,000 - 8,212,000 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,662,761 (97,417) (3,145,166) 4,037,283 

 
(a) Transactions with non-controlling interests 
 
On 23 June 2016, the consolidated entity acquired an additional 0.7% of the issued capital of Admedus Regen Pty Ltd for $500,000.  
Immediately prior to the purchase, the carrying amount of the existing 27.9% non-controlling interest was $1,505,374.  The consolidated 
entity recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of $39,306 and a decrease in equity attributable to the owners of Admedus 
Limited of $96,544. 
 
On 1 July 2015, the consolidated entity acquired an additional 5.8% of the issued capital of Admedus Vaccines Pty Ltd for $3,000,000.  
Immediately prior to the purchase, the carrying amount of the existing 33.8% non-controlling interest was $1,505,374.  The consolidated 
entity recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of $259,105 and a decrease in equity attributable to the owners of Admedus 
Limited of $579,395. 
 
During the 2015 year the consolidated entity acquired an additional 9.1% of the issued capital of Admedus Vaccines Pty Ltd for 
$3,000,000.  Immediately prior to the purchase, the carrying amount of the existing 42.8% non-controlling interest was $2,265,284.  The 
consolidated entity recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of $480,782 and a decrease in equity attributable to the owners 
of Admedus Limited of $531,884.  The consolidated entity also acquired an additional 9.8% of the issued capital of Admedus Regen Pty 
Ltd via two investments of $4,042,000 and $4,170,000.  Immediately prior to the purchase, the carrying amount of the existing 20.87% 
non-controlling interest was ($94,456).  The consolidated entity recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of $56,296 and a 
decrease in equity attributable to the owners of Admedus Limited of $955,410. 
 
The overall effect of these transactions on the equity attributable to the owners of Admedus Limited during 2016 and 2015 is summarised 
as follows: 
 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest acquired  2,824,061 9,724,706 

Consideration paid to non-controlling interest  (3,500,000) (11,212,000) 

Excess of consideration paid recognised in other reserves within equity  (675,939) (1,487,294) 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

19. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related practices and 
non-related audit firms: 
 

      CONSOLIDATED 

  2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

(a)  Audit Services    

HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership)    

Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the 
Corporations Act 2001 

 
 

39,000 
 

- 

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd    

Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the 
Corporations Act 2001 

 
 

86,621 
 

89,415 

(b)  Non-audit Services 
   

Corporate Finance services    

Related entities to HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership)  - - 

Related entities to BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd  - 8,058 

  - 8,058 

 

It is the Group’s policy to employ HLB and BDO on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where HLB’s and BDO’s expertise 
and experience with the Group are important.  
 
20. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 2016 
Number 

2015 
Number 

(a) Weighted Average Number of Shares Used as the Denominator   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the denominator in calculating basic 
earnings per share 190,841,109 153,281,069 

Adjustment for calculation of diluted earnings per share:   
Options - - 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the denominator in calculating diluted 
earnings per share n/a n/a 

 Cents Cents 

(b)  Loss Used in Calculating Earnings/(Loss) Per Share (24,013,868) (25,253,842) 

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (12.58) (16.48) 

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share n/a n/a 
 

(c) Information concerning classification of securities 

Options: 
No listed or unlisted options of Admedus Limited have been included in the determination of basic earnings/(loss) per share because all 
options on issue have an exercise price above the market share price of the Company as at year end. 
 
Details relating to options granted under the Admedus Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) are outlined in Note 25 (a). 
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21. RECONCILIATION OF LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 CONSOLIDATED 
 2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

(a) Reconciliation to Cash at the End of the Year   

Cash at bank and in hand 8,813,119 24,025,859 

Total cash at the end of the year 8,813,119 24,025,859 

   

(b) Cash at Bank and On Hand   

These are interest bearing accounts held at bank with average interest rates of 0.15% (2015: 0.15%). 
 
(c) Deposits At Call   

No deposits were held by the Group during the current financial year. 

(d) Interest rate Risk Exposure   

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in Note 3. 

(e) Reconciliation of Loss After Income Tax to Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities  

Loss for the year (25,130,410) (26,799,970) 

Depreciation/Amortisation expense 1,981,451 2,017,008 

Inventory write-down - 186,990 

Bad debts (4,866) 16,971 

Non-cash share expense – share based payments 1,518,791 1,054,648 

Foreign exchange differences 543,515 (79,414) 

Additional shares acquired in subsidiary (Finance activities) - 165,000 

   

Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from purchase of controlled entity:   

Increase in receivables (1,753,611) (836,406) 

Increase in inventories (569,059) (70,160) 

(Increase)/decrease in net tax asset - (7,338) 

Increase in deferred tax - 2,928,632 

(Decrease)/increase in creditors 1,319,191 (432,661) 

Increase in other provisions 154,474 360,496 

Net cash outflow from operating activities (21,940,524) (21,496,204) 

 
(f) Non-cash investing and financing activities 

The Group has no non-cash investing and financing activities to disclose. 
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22. COMMITMENTS 

Total expenditure commitments at reporting date not provided for in the financial statements 
 

  CONSOLIDATED 
  2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

(a)  Operating Lease Commitments    

Future operating lease commitments not provided for in the financial statements and 
payable: 

   

Within one year  583,287 501,436 

Later than one year but no later than five years  670,169 785,623 

Later than five years  - - 

  1,253,456 1,287,059 

The Company leases office space in Brisbane under an operating lease that expires in January 2019 and photocopiers expiring December 
2016 and August 2019.  
Admedus Regen Pty Ltd leases office space in Melbourne under an operating lease that expiring in May 2018 and leases office space in 
Sydney under an operating lease that expires in April 2017. 
Admedus Biomanufacturing Pty Ltd leases office and laboratory space under operating leases that expiring in February 2019  
Admedus Vaccines Pty Ltd leases office and lab space under an operating lease that expires January 2017. 
Admedus Corporation leases office space under an operating lease that expires December 2017. 

23. SEGMENT REPORTING 

(a) Description of segments 

Segment information is presented using a management approach, i.e. segment information is provided on the same basis as 
information as used for internal reporting purposes by the chief operating decision makers (board of directors that make key 
strategic decisions). 

Management has determined that there are four identifiable reportable segments as follows: 

 Disposable medical product and medical devices distribution; 

 Bio implant operations – inclusive of sales, distribution and manufacturing; 

 Regenerative medicine R&D - ADAPT technology; and 

 Immunotherapies R&D. 

 
Intersegment transactions 
Intersegment transactions were made at market rates. Intersegment transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 
 
Intersegment receivables, payables and loans  
Intersegment loans are initially recognised at the consideration received. Intersegment loans receivable and loans payable that earn or 
incur non-market interest are not adjusted to fair value based on market interest rates. Intersegment loans are eliminated on 
consolidation. 
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23. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 

Segment information 

 Medical products 
and devices 

Bio Implant 
operations 

Regenerative 
medicine R&D 

Immunotherapies 
R&D 

Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

2016   
   

Total segment revenue 8,869,814 5,280,707 - - 14,150,521 

      

Segment profit/(loss) 782,965 (10,295,796) (3,250,849) (2,999,479) (15,763,159) 

Segment assets 3,965,785 6,921,667 4,932,447 6,824,095 22,643,994 

Segment liabilities 335,673 1,188,506 165,546 195,552 1,885,277 

Other information      
Acquisition of non-current 
assets 5,423 261,203 117,696 - 384,322 
Depreciation & amortisation 21,660 461,491 475,553 996,744 1,955,447 
Asset write downs (4,071) 5,915 - (6,710) (4,866) 

      

2015   
   

Total segment revenue 7,495,614 2,637,846 - - 10,133,460 

      

Segment profit/(loss) (186,443) (9,799,771) (2,274,128) (3,826,114) (16,086,456) 

Segment assets 5,132,976 6,051,349 7,575,214 6,226,329 24,985,868 

Segment liabilities 874,466 903,685 105,105 170,690 2,053,946 

Other information      
Acquisition of non-current 
assets 21,984 327,292 130,329 9,313 488,918 
Depreciation & amortisation 12,540 703,031 286,850 995,662 1,998,084 
Asset write downs 11,057 53,175 68,950 - 133,181 

 

(b)  Other segment information 

(i)  Segment revenue 

Sales between segments are carried out at arm’s length and are eliminated on consolidation. 
 
Segment revenue reconciles to total revenue from continuing operations as follows: 

 CONSOLIDATED 
 2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

Segment revenue 14,150,521 10,133,460 

Total revenue from continuing operations 14,150,521 10,133,460 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

23. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 

(ii)  Segment result 

Performance is measured based on segment result before tax. 

The reconciliation of segment information to loss before income tax from continuing operations is as follows: 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

Segment loss (15,763,159) (16,086,456) 

Unallocated:   

Depreciation and amortisation (26,005) (18,924) 

Asset write downs - (70,780) 

Share-based payments (1,518,791) (1,054,649) 

Other corporate and administration (expenses)/benefits (7,822,456) (6,640,528) 

Loss before income tax from continuing operations  (25,130,410) (23,871,337) 

 
(iii)  Segment assets and liabilities 

Segment assets and liabilities are those that are directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion that can be allocated 
to the segment on a reasonable basis. 

Segment assets include all assets used by the segment and consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.  

Segment liabilities consist primarily of trade and other creditors and provisions. 

Reportable segment assets reconciled to total assets as follows: 

 CONSOLIDATED 

  2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

Segment assets 22,643,994 24,985,868 

Intersegment eliminations  - 

Unallocated:   

  Cash and cash equivalents 3,500,067 15,918,432 

  Trade and other receivables 588,323 284,621 

  Property, Plant & Equipment 36,121 60,580 

  Intangibles 10,965 10,965 

Total assets per the statement of financial position  26,779,469 41,260,466 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

23. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 

Reportable segment liabilities reconciled to total liabilities as follows: 
 

 

 CONSOLIDATED 
 2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

 

Segment liabilities 1,885,277 2,053,946 2,308,711 

Intersegment eliminations - - - 

Unallocated:    

Trade and other payables 1,354,840 506,856 167,352 

Provisions 899,597 141,182 48,077 

Total liabilities per the statement of financial position 4,139,714 2,701,984 

 

 
24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

(a)  Parent Entity 

The parent entity within the Group is Admedus Limited. 

 
(b)  Subsidiary 

Interest in subsidiaries is set out in Note 15. 

 
(c)  Key Management Personnel 

Disclosures relating to Directors and specified executives are set out in the Remuneration Report. 
 
(d)  Transactions and Balances with Related Parties 

No related party transactions were noted during the period. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

25. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS  

(a)  Employee Share Option Plan 

The Admedus Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) was approved by shareholders at the 2015 Annual General Meeting. Eligible Employees 
(as defined in the Plan and which includes Directors, employees and consultants) are able to participate in the Plan. 
 
The terms of the ESOP include: 
- Options are issued to selected Eligible Employees for free; 
- The allotment of options is at the discretion of the Board of Directors; 
- Shares allotted on the exercise of the options are to be issued at an exercise price determined by the Board in its absolute 

discretion, which price shall not be less than the minimum exercise price permitted by the Listing Rules; 
- Options expire 5 years after the grant date; 
- Options are unlisted and not transferable unless the Directors in their absolute discretion agree to a transfer; and 
- Options carry no dividend rights or voting rights. 
 
The Company has 2,275,000 staff options over ordinary shares (post consolidation) in the Company as at 30 June 2016 (2015: 22,950,000). 

On 21 July 2015 the Company issued 13,500,000 options to employees under the ESOP. 

On 26 November 2015 the Company completed a share and option consolidation on a 10 for 1 basis. 

On 10 December 2015 employees received 475,000 options as a sign-on bonus under the ESOP. 

On 10 December 2015 directors received 200,000 options under the ESOP, approved by shareholders at 2015 AGM. 

On 24 June 2016 employees received 250,000 options as a sign-on bonus under the ESOP. 

Set out below are summaries of options granted by Admedus Limited: 

Grant date 
 
 

Expiry date 
 
 

Exercise 
price 

 
$ 

Balance at start 
of the year 

Number 

Granted during 
the year 
Number 

 
Cancelled 
Number 

Exercised 
during the 

year 
Number 

Balance at end 
of the year 

Number 

Value at 
grant date 

  2016 
12/8/2011 10/7/2016 0.60 3,666,667 - (3,370,417)(a) - 296,250 300,440 (b) 
22/8/2011 10/7/2016 0.60 51,180,000 - (44,532,833) (a) (1,644,833) 5,002,334 460,960 (b) 
18/5/2012 18/5/2017 0.60 2,133,334 - (1,920,000) (a) - 213,334 85,453 (b) 

24/4/2013 1/3/2018 0.60 2,000,000 - (1,800,000) (a) - 200,000 14,651 
18/6/2013 18/6/2018 0.95 15,050,067 - (13,545,060) (a) - 1,505,007 248,336 
16/12/2013 16/12/2018 2.70 9,000,000 - (8,100,000) (a) - 900,000 452,058 
28/3/2014 1/2/2019 2.45 2,000,000 - (1,800,000) (a) - 200,000 91,176 
21/5/2014 1/7/2018 1.70 3,000,000 - (2,700,000) (a) - 300,000 95,690 
21/5/2014 21/5/2019 1.70 15,000,000 - (13,500,000) (a) - 1,500,000 527,860 
5/11/2014 5/11/2019 2.10 4,100,000 - (3,690,000) (a) - 410,000 143,546 
30/6/2015 30/6/2020 1.17 18,850,000 - (16,965,000) (a) - 1,885,000 274,551 
21/7/2015 21/7/2020 1.44 - 13,500,000 (12,150,000) (a) - 1,350,000 173,986 
10/12/2015 10/12/2020 0.83 - 475,000 - - 475,000 21,566 
10/12/2015 10/12/2020 1.39 - 200,000 - - 200,000 19,105 
24/6/2016 24/6/2021 0.30 - 250,000 - - 250,000 224 

Total   125,980,068 14,425,000 (124,073,310) (1,644,833) (14,686,925) 2,06,749 

Weighted average exercise price $0.11 $0.19 $0.12 $0.60 $1.13  

 (a) The balance relates to the option consolidation on a 10 for 1 basis 

(b) Valuation of options was expensed in the 2010 to 2015 financial years 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

25. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 

Grant date 
 
 

Expiry date 
 
 

Exercise 
price 

 
$ 

Balance at start 
of the year 

Number 

Granted during 
the year 
Number 

 
Cancelled 
Number 

Exercised 
during the year 

Number 

Balance at end 
of the year 

Number 

Value at 
grant date 

  2015 
22/10/2009 22/10/2014 0.10 5,000,000 - (4,975,000) (25,000) - 200,000 (a) 

12/8/2011 10/7/2016 0.06 3,916,667 - - (250,000) 3,666,667 300,440 (a) 
22/8/2011 10/7/2016 0.06 52,300,000 - - (1,120,000) 51,180,000 460,960 (a) 
18/5/2012 18/5/2017 0.06 2,466,667 - - (333,333) 2,133,334 85,453 (a) 

24/4/2013 1/3/2018 0.06 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 13,153 
18/6/2013 18/6/2018 0.095 15,300,000 - - (249,933) 15,050,067 175,323 
16/12/2013 16/12/2018 0.27 9,000,000 - - - 9,000,000 161,981 
28/3/2014 1/2/2019 0.245 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 16,386 
21/5/2014 1/7/2018 0.17 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 63,968 
21/5/2014 21/5/2019 0.17 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000 39,565 
5/11/2014 5/11/2019 0.21 - 4,100,000 - - 4,100,000 14,695 
30/6/2015 30/6/2020 0.117 - 18,850,000 - - 18,850,000 748 

Total   109,983,334 22,950,000 (4,975,000) (1,978,266) 125,980,068 1,532,672 

Weighted average exercise price $0.105 $0.134 $0.100 $0.065 $0.111  

 (c) Valuation of options was expensed in the 2010 to 2015 financial years 

 
(b)  Expenses Arising from Share Based Payment Transactions 

Total expenses arising from share based payment transactions recognised during the period were as follows: 

  CONSOLIDATED 
  2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

Employee bonus shares    - 

Options issued under employee option plan  1,518,792 1,054,649 

Total expenses from share-bases transactions  1,518,792 1,054,649 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

25. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 

(c)  Fair Value of Options Granted 

The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted during the year ended 30 June 2016 was 40.9 cents per option for Tranche A, 
51.5 cents per option for Tranche B, 58.5 cents per option for Tranche C and 16.3 cents per option for Tranche D. The fair value at grant 
date is independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the 
option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend 
yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option. 
 
The model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2016 included: 
 

 Tranche A Tranche B Tranche C Tranche D 

Details: All Tranches of options are granted for no consideration and vest based on holder still being 
employed by Admedus Limited over a three year period. Vested options are exercisable for 
a period up to expiry date. 

Exercise price: $1.44 $1.39 $0.83 $0.30 

Grant date: 21 July 2015 10-Dec-15 10-Dec-15 24-Jun-16 

Expiry date: 21 July 2020 10-Dec-20 10-Dec-20 24-Jun-21 

Share price at grant date: $0.86 $0.83 $0.83 $0.30 

Expected price volatility of the 
company’s shares: 

90% 90% 90% 70% 

Risk-free interest rate: 2.25% 2.36% 2.36% 1.63% 

Fair value at grant date: $0.409 $0.515 $0.585 $0.163 

 
The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for any expected 
changes to future volatility due to publicly available information. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

Fair value hierarchy 
The following tables detail the consolidated entity's assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three level hierarchy, 
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being: 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement 
date 
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability 
 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Consolidated - 2016 $ $ $ $ 

Assets     

Intellectual Property - 3,317,801 - 3,317,801 
Property, plant and equipment - 2,696,225 - 2,696,225 
Total assets - 6,014,026 - 6,014,026 

Liabilities     
Lease make good provision - 466,830 - 466,830 
Total liabilities - 466,830 - 466,830 

 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Consolidated - 2015 $ $ $ $ 

Assets     

Intellectual Property - 4,311,870 - 4,311,870 
Property, plant and equipment - 2,376,406 - 2,376,406 
Total assets - 6,688,276 - 6,688,276 

Liabilities     
Lease make good provision - 460,915 - 460,915 
Total liabilities - 460,915 - 460,915 

 
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to 
their short-term nature. 
 
The fair values of Intellectual property, Property, plant and equipment and Lease make good provision were initially calculated by 
independent valuation specialists upon inclusion in the financials. The fair values has since been adjusted for amortization, depreciation and 
interest. 

 
 

27. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

On 12 November 2014 proceedings were issued against Admedus Limited, its wholly owned subsidiary Admedus (Australia) Pty Ltd and 
its subsidiary Admedus Regen Pty Ltd. 

The proceeding have been issued by Dr Geoffrey Lane, Dr Keith Woollard and their respective associated entities Palkingston Pty Ltd and 
KV Woollard Pty Ltd under sections 232 and 233 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).  The allegations relate to Admedus Regen Pty Ltd.  

The proceedings allege that the affairs of Admedus Regen Pty Ltd are being conducted in a manner that is contrary to the interests of the 
members of Admedus Regen Pty Ltd as a whole and oppressive of the interests of Dr Geoffrey Lane, Dr Keith Woollard, Palkingston Pty 
Ltd and KV Woollard Pty Ltd. 

The matter is still ongoing and the outcome at this stage is unknown and therefore an estimate of the potential contingency cannot 
reliably be determined. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

28. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

On 13 July 2016, the Group announced cancellation of 5,298,584 unlisted options that expired on 10 July 2016.  

On 15 July 2016, the Group announced the resignation of BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and appointed of HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) as 
the new auditors. HLB will continue to hold office until the next AGM at which time the shareholders will formally appoint. 

On 2 August 2016, the Group announced Prospectus -Entitlement Offer. Under the offer shareholder have the rights to purchase 1 share 
for every 9 shares held at $0.33 per share. 

On 5 August 2016, the Group announced the issue of 30,303,031 shares each at an issue price of $0.33 via a private placement. 
 
29. DIVIDENDS 

No dividends have been declared or paid during the period. 
 
30. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION 

The following details information related to the legal parent entity, Admedus Limited, at 30 June 2016. The information presented here 
has been prepared using consistent accounting policies as presented in Note 1. 

 

  THE COMPANY 
  2016 

$ 
2015 

$ 

Current assets  4,196,235 16,304,620 

Non-current assets  16,912,530 19,647,533 

Total assets  21,108,765 35,952,153 

Current liabilities  2,270,275 1,816,430 

Non-current liabilities  - - 

Total liabilities  2,270,275 1,816,430 

Contributed equity  112,298,999 105,150,741 

Accumulated losses  (97,772,034) (73,807,752) 

Reserves  4,311,525 2,792,734 

Total equity  18,838,490 34,135,723 

Profit/(loss) for the year  (23,964,282) (24,230,828) 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  - - 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  (23,964,282) (24,230,828) 

 

Contingent liabilities of the parent entity 

The contingent liabilities for the parent entity as at 30 June 2016 are detailed in note 27. 

 

Commitments of the parent entity 

The commitments for the parent entity as at 30 June 2016 are detailed in note 22. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

The Directors of the Company declare that: 
 
1.  The financial statements, comprising the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of consolidated statement of 

profit or loss, consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of cash flow, consolidated statements of 
changes in equity, accompanying notes, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and: 

 
(a) comply with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001, other mandatory professional reporting 

requirements; and 
 

(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2016 and of the performance for the year ended on that date 
of the consolidated entity; 

 
(c) comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1. 

 
2.  In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 

they become due and payable. 
 
3.  The remuneration disclosures included in the Director’s Report (as part of the Remuneration Report) for the year ended 30 June 

2016, comply with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
4.  The Directors have been given the declarations by the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer required by section 295A of 

the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
 
 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on behalf of the directors by: 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
WAYNE PATERSON 
Chairman 
 
Perth, Western Australia 

 
Dated 31 August 2016 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the members of Admedus Limited 

 

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Admedus Limited (“the company”), which comprises 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2016, the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flow for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration, of the Group comprising the company and 
the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101: Presentation of 
Financial Statements, the consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant 
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Group’s preparation of the financial report 
that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s and its controlled 
entities’ internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report. 

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or management. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 

HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership)  ABN 22 193 232 714 
Level 4, 130 Stirling Street Perth WA 6000. PO Box 8124 Perth BC 6849 Telephone +61 (08) 9227 7500. Fax +61 (08) 9227 7533.  
Email: hlb@hlbwa.com.au.  Website: http://www.hlb.com.au 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 
 

HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) is a member of   International, a worldwide organisation of accounting firms and business advisers 

mailto:hlb@hlbwa.com.au
http://www.hlb.com.au/
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Auditor’s Opinion 

 
In our opinion: 

 
(a) the financial report of Admedus Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2016 and its performance 
for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 
1. 

 
Report on the Remuneration Report 

 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2016. 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report 
in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 
Opinion 

 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Admedus Limited for the year ended 30 June 2016 complies with 
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
 

 
HLB Mann Judd 
Chartered Accountants 

 
B McVeigh 
Partner 

 
 

Perth, Western Australia 
31 August 2016 

 


